

Norwegian University of Life Sciences Faculty of Social Sciences Department of School of Economics and Business

Master Thesis 2014 30 credits

Upgrading in the Global Apparel Value Chain: an Analysis on Asian Developing Countries' Competition with China in Exporting Apparels



Ingvild Bakken

Acknowledgements

This thesis has been prepared by Ingvild Bakken and finalizes a Master of Science in Business and Administration at the Norwegian University of Life Sciences.

I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Roberto J. Garcia, whose continuous support and valuable advice helped me to complete this paper.

Further, I would like to thank my family and friends for their support and patience these months.

Abstract

The purpose of this research is to examine how regional suppliers of apparels have performed in the global apparel industry compared to China during the past two decades, and particularly after the phase out of the Multi-Fibre Arrangement (MFA), which up to 2004 applied quotas to exports of clothing in the largest end markets. The speculation prior to the quota phase out was that large increases of Chinese exports would be at the expense of other Asian suppliers. This thesis effort to trace what consequences China's growth in exports caused for developing countries in Asia in exporting apparels. This analysis has adopted a parsimonious approach from Bernhardt (2013) to examine these effects, concerning three factors for upgrading in the global apparel value chain. To detect economic upgrading, export values and export market shares are analysed from 1993-2012. Product upgrading can be achieved by increasing export prices or export like commodities at a higher price, where prices are used as a proxy for quality. The final upgrading factor is social upgrading, which is analysed by studying real wages and employment.

Major findings is that economic upgrading has been extensive in the country sample, but the other factors has been more difficult to achieve. As expected, China was the biggest winner regarding the apparel upgrading indicators, followed by India. However, most of the regional countries had larger growth in export values and did not lose market share to China after the MFA-phase out. The major reason for this may be the preferential treatment the other countries are granted as developing countries, such as GSP tariffs in the EU and the US. Product upgrading were not easy to trace in the apparel sector, as most countries have shifted to cheaper fabrics to meet price demand from industrialized countries. One interesting finding was that Indonesia, Cambodia and Vietnam operates with same prices for the product categories to the world market and to different markets. These prices were significantly higher than from China, Bangladesh and India. Social upgrading in sweatshops in developing countries were not expected, and although all countries managed to employ more people, real wages only increased in China and India.

Keywords: international trade, apparel industry, upgrading, GVC, China, MFA

Abbreviations

| ATCAgreement on Textiles and ClothingBGMEABangladesh Garment Manufacturers and Exporters AssociationCEPACloser Economic Partnership ArrangementCMTcut-make-trimEBAEverything but ArmsEUthe European UnionFDIforeign direct investmentFTAfree trade agreementGATTGeneral Agreement on Tariffs and TradeGDPgross domestic productGSPGeneralized System of PreferencesGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFAmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Atab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs Organization | ASEAN | Association of Southeast Asian Nations |
|--|-------------|--|
| BGMEABangladesh Garment Manufacturers and Exporters AssociationCEPACloser Economic Partnership ArrangementCMTcut-make-trimEBAEverything but ArmsEUthe European UnionFDIforeign direct investmentFTAfree trade agreement on Tariffs and TradeGDPgross domestic productGSPGeneral Agreement on Tariffs and TradeGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFNmost favoured nationMFFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal design manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal design manufactureSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrase-acific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United Arab EmirateaUNCOMWorld Trade Organization | ATC | Agreement on Textiles and Clothing |
| CEPACloser Economic Partnership ArrangementCMTcut-make-trimEBAEverything but ArmsEUthe European UnionFDIforeign direct investmentFTAfree trade agreementGATTGeneral Agreement on Tariffs and TradeGDPgross domestic productGSPGeneralized System of PreferencesGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFnan-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal design manufactureODMoriginal design manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEUnited Matos Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs Organization | BGMEA | Bangladesh Garment Manufacturers and Exporters Association |
| CMTcut-make-trimEBAEverything but ArmsEUthe European UnionFDIforeign direct investmentFTAfree trade agreementGATTGeneral Agreement on Tariffs and TradeGDPgross domestic productGSPGeneralized System of PreferencesGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal eagin manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal enterpriseROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEUnited Mations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs Organization | CEPA | Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement |
| EBAEverything but ArmsEUthe European UnionFDIforeign direct investmentFTAfree trade agreementGATTGeneral Agreement on Tariffs and TradeGDPgross domestic productGSPGeneralized System of PreferencesGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrase-Pacific PartnershipUAEUnited Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Atab EmiratesUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | CMT | cut-make-trim |
| EUthe European UnionFDIforeign direct investmentFTAfree trade agreementGATTGeneral Agreement on Tariffs and TradeGDPgross domestic productGSPGeneralized System of PreferencesGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMFFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal design manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMsulti-axisto for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementPTAtrade and investment framework agreementPTAthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Trade Organization | EBA | Everything but Arms |
| FDIforeign direct investmentFTAfree trade agreementGATTGeneral Agreement on Tariffs and TradeGDPgross domestic productGSPGeneralized System of PreferencesGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs Organization | EU | the European Union |
| FTAfree trade agreementGATTGeneral Agreement on Tariffs and TradeGDPgross domestic productGSPGeneralized System of PreferencesGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureODMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWTOWorld Trade Organization | FDI | foreign direct investment |
| GATTGeneral Agreement on Tariffs and TradeGDPgross domestic productGSPGeneralized System of PreferencesGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFnam-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal design manufactureSARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN comtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs Organization | FTA | free trade agreement |
| GDPgross domestic productGSPGeneralized System of PreferencesGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs Organization | GATT | General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade |
| GSPGeneralized System of PreferencesGVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | GDP | gross domestic product |
| GVCglobal value chainLDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN comtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | GSP | Generalized System of Preferences |
| LDCleast developed countryLIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTras-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN comtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | GVC | global value chain |
| LIClow-income countryMANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | LDC | least developed country |
| MANOVAmultivariate analysis of varianceMFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | LIC | low-income country |
| MFAMulti-Fiber ArrangementMFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | MANOVA | multivariate analysis of variance |
| MFNmost favoured nationMMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | MFA | Multi-Fiber Arrangement |
| MMFman-made fibersNIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN comtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | MFN | most favoured nation |
| NIEnewly industrialized economyOBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEUnited Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | MMF | man-made fibers |
| OBMoriginal brand manufactureODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | NIE | newly industrialized economy |
| ODMoriginal design manufactureOEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | OBM | original brand manufacture |
| OEMoriginal equipment manufacturingPTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | ODM | original design manufacture |
| PTApreferential trade agreementROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | OEM | original equipment manufacturing |
| ROOrules of originSAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | PTA | preferential trade agreement |
| SAARCSouth Asian Association for Regional CooperationSOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | ROO | rules of origin |
| SOEstate-owned enterpriseTIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | SAARC | South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation |
| TIFATrade and investment framework agreementTPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | SOE | state-owned enterprise |
| TPPTrans-Pacific PartnershipUAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | TIFA | Trade and investment framework agreement |
| UAEthe United Arab EmiratesUN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | ТРР | Trans-Pacific Partnership |
| UN ComtradeUnited Nations Commodity Trade Statistics DatabaseUSA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | UAE | the United Arab Emirates |
| USA/USthe United States of AmericaWCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | UN Comtrade | United Nations Commodity Trade Statistics Database |
| WCOWorld Customs OrganizationWTOWorld Trade Organization | USA/US | the United States of America |
| WTO World Trade Organization | WCO | World Customs Organization |
| | WTO | World Trade Organization |

Table of contents

| Acknowledgements i |
|--|
| Abstractii |
| Abbreviationsiii |
| Chapter 1: Introduction |
| 1.1 The apparel industry1 |
| 1.2 Organization of the thesis 4 |
| Chapter 2: Background |
| 2.1 The global apparel industry5 |
| 2.1.1 From the Multi-Fibre Arrangement to the Agreement on Textiles and Clothing |
| 2.1.2 The Global Financial Crisis |
| 2.2 Apparel export performance |
| 2.2.1 Export values and market shares |
| 2.2.2 Apparel reliance11 |
| 2.3 Export markets |
| 2.4 Tariffs and preferential trade agreements |
| 2.5 Backward linkages and government policies17 |
| Chapter 3: Theory and related literature 22 |
| 3.1 Trade theory 22 |
| 3.1.1 Trade history 22 |
| 3.1.2 The Global Value Chain25 |
| 3.2 Related literature |
| Chapter 4: Data and methodology |
| 4.1 Data |
| 4.2 Methodology |
| 4.2.1 Global Commodity Value Chain |
| 4.2.2 The Global Value Chains in Apparels |
| 4.2.3 The parsimonious approach |
| Chapter 5: Results 40 |
| 5.1 Economic upgrading 40 |
| 5.2 Product upgrading |
| 5.2.1 Export baskets |
| 5.2.2 Price Scenario |
| 5.2.3 Price comparison between the countries |
| 5.3 Social upgrading |
| 5.3.1 Wages in the apparel industry53 |

| 5.3.2 Employment in the apparel industry | 54 |
|--|------|
| 5.4 Overall upgrading? | . 56 |
| Chapter 6: Conclusions | 58 |
| 6.1 Concluding comments | 58 |
| 6.2 Limitations of the study | 60 |
| 6.3 Suggestions for further research | 61 |
| Bibliography | 63 |
| Appendix | 70 |

List of tables

| . 6 |
|-----|
| . 8 |
| . 9 |
| 11 |
| 12 |
| 15 |
| 40 |
| 44 |
| 47 |
| 51 |
| 52 |
| 54 |
| 55 |
| 57 |
| |

List of figures

| Figure 3.1: Absolute advantage | 22 |
|--|----|
| Figure 3.2: Comparative advantage | 23 |
| Figure 3.3: Trajectories in functional upgrading | 26 |
| Figure 5.1: Prices to world market, 2011 | 50 |

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 The apparel industry

The textile and apparel industry includes all businesses in production, processing, distribution, selling and marketing of textiles (Mann, 2014). This industry is one of the oldest, largest and most globalized industries in the world, and have been around almost as long as humankind itself has when they used animal skins and clothing woven from leaves and grasses. However, the mass production of textile goods started along with the Industrial Revolution in the 18th century when new inventions made harvesting raw materials and creating textiles possible (Mann, 2014). The apparel industry includes all stages in the textile industry, and covers all knitted and woven clothing. Because of the industry's low cost of entry, relatively simple technology requirement and its labour-intensive nature, the apparel industry has become a gateway for developing countries to industrialization and national development (Gereffi and Frederick, 2010). The apparel industry has contributed significantly in developing countries in terms of GDP, foreign exchange, employment and industrial development. One example is Cambodia, where the apparel and textile industry contributes 12 percent of GDP, employs 90 percent of its manufacturing workers and comprise of 80 percent of total exports (Keane and Willem te Velde, 2008). With the large supply of low-skilled workers in developing countries, the apparel sector has employed millions of workers that would otherwise be unemployed.

However, the apparel industry has been one of the most protected industries in the world. Because most nations produce for the international textile and apparel market, the global expansion of the industry has been driven by trade policies, ranging from agricultural subsidies on input materials to a long history of quotas (Gereffi and Frederick, 2010). One of the most comprehensive trade policies regimes came into being in 1974, when the Multi-Fibre Arrangement (MFA) was created to manage the trade in textiles and apparel through a system of quotas. The motivation for the MFA was arguably to protect the domestic textile and apparel industry in developed countries from developing countries where production was cheaper (Evans and Harrigan, 2005). Under the MFA, the United States, Canada and many European nations restricted imports from developing countries, and each developing country was assigned a quota or amount of a specific item that could be exported. With the foundation of the World Trade Organization (WTO) in 1995, the multilateral organization where trade rules are negotiated and the disciplines enforced under the WTO Agreement on Textiles and Clothing (ATC), the MFA quota restrictions were agreed to be phased out over a ten-year period, after which countries could export apparels without limits by 2005 (Naumann, 2006). The ATC was approved as part of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act in 1994 and went into effect 1 January 1995, and the integration process of eliminating quotas would finish 1 January 2005.

With the elimination of the quotas, it was expected that large producer-exporter countries such as China would be among the biggest beneficiaries of the ending of the MFA (Nordås, 2004). China experienced rapid economic growth averaging around 10 percent in GDP per year since the country began reforming and open to the rest of the world in 1978 (World Bank, 2014a). Exports from China started to accelerate, especially after China's accession to the WTO in 2001 (Chow, 2003). By 2012, China's share of world merchandise exports was 11 percent, ranging number one in the world with exports of goods worth more than US\$ 2 trillion (WTO, 2013). Labour-intensive products, such as clothing, textiles and furniture, accounted for 20 percent of total Chinese exports in 2012. China's global apparel exports increased from US\$ 17 billion in 1993 to US\$ 148 billion in 2012. However, the share of apparel exports out of total merchandise exports of high-tech products have grown rapidly, by an average of 22 percent per year since 2002 (World Bank, 2014b). This may indicate that with China's economic graduation the industry are moving away from low-cost products towards more sophisticated, high-tech products.

The other regional apparel exporters in Asia were expected to lose their market shares to China after the quota was phased out. This paper investigates how the regional suppliers of apparels have performed compared to China from 1993 to 2012. The largest apparel exporters in South East Asia after China are Bangladesh, India, Cambodia, Indonesia and Vietnam, and these are the countries included in this study. The choice of countries were made because the apparel exports account for an important share of total merchandise exports and apparel production accounts for a significant share of formal sector employment. The countries also had to have a geographical relation to China, where transportation costs to the largest markets of the EU and the US are typically similar. Compared to China, these countries' shares in global apparel exports are still small, which raises the following questions: Is China crowding out its regional competitors in exporting apparels or has it becoming less of a competitor as the country industrializes? Have regional competitors specialized in production/export by focusing in niche products to avoid direct competition with China in like products? Have competitors managed to upgrade in the apparel sector despite China's leadership?

Global value chain (GVC) analyses are suitable to explain changes in a labour-intensive industry such as apparels (Gereffi and Memedovic, 2003). A value chain involves the whole range of activities, from raw materials to the end market, including design, production and marketing. One of the main elements in a global value chain is the term upgrading, which can be accomplished by moving up the stages in one commodity chain, or move to other, more sophisticated value chains, e.g. from apparels to high-tech products (Gereffi and Memedovic, 2003). Bernhardt (2013) divides the term upgrading in the apparel value chain into economic and social upgrading, where economic upgrading is achieved by increasing export value and export market share, while success in social upgrading is achieved by increasing employment and wages. This thesis will focus on economic upgrading and uses Bernhardt's (2013) economic upgrading factors to examine how China and its major regional competitors have performed during and after the MFA quota phase out. In addition, the main task will be to detect product upgrading in the apparel value chain. Product upgrading can be achieved by moving to higher quality products or by improving the quality of an existing product.

The research questions will be examined using these three measures for upgrading. Economic upgrading is identified using export values for apparel products defined under Chapters 61 (knitted products) and 62 (woven products) of the Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding System (HS) of the tariff nomenclature using the UN Comtrade database. The HS is a multipurpose international product classification system developed by the World Customs Organization (WCO). Product upgrading is detected by studying sub-sectors of HS-61 and HS-62 at the 6-digit level. The most exported commodities at this level from each country will be examined from 1993 to 2012, where commodity prices are calculated as an indicator for quality. Social upgrading is identified by data on employment and wages, and are included as a supplement to the other factors.

1.2 Organization of the thesis

Chapter 1 introduces the importance of an apparel industry for developing countries and the sector's main policy changes during 1993-2012. It also motivates the problem for upgrading in the apparel value chain. Chapter 2 provides background of the important events in the international apparel sector and present information on apparel export performance for the sample countries. Important preferential agreements and government policies are also portrayed. Chapter 3 presents theory and reviews the related literature on trade, GVC analyses and the world apparel industry. Chapter 4 constructs a modelling framework or method to examine the research questions. Chapter 5 reports on the analysis and results, while the summary and conclusions are in chapter 6.

Chapter 2: Background

2.1 The global apparel industry

The apparel industry has traditionally played an essential role in industrial and economic development for low-income countries (LICs). Because of the industry's low entry barriers, such as relatively simple technology requirements and its labour-intensive nature, the apparel industry has become an entrance for developing countries to industrialization and national development (Gereffi and Frederick, 2010). The apparel industry has also contributed significantly in employing large numbers of unskilled, mostly female workers in developing countries. Most countries in the world contribute to the global apparel industry and it has become one of the largest export sectors in the world. Global exports of apparels valued US\$ 412 in 2011, accounting for 2.3 percent of world merchandise exports (WTO, 2011). Two major events have had a large impact on the apparel industry the past 20 years, that is the end of MFA quotas and the global financial crisis.

2.1.1 From the Multi-Fibre Arrangement to the Agreement on Textiles and Clothing

Until 2014, the apparel industry had been one of the most protected sectors in international trade. The Multi-Fibre Arrangement (MFA) regulated international trade in textiles and clothing from 1974 until the end of the Uruguay Round. This framework for bilateral agreements or unilateral actions established quantitative restrictions (quotas) on imports into countries whose domestic industries could be damaged by increasing imports. The MFA was signed in 1974, and it crucially shaped production, trade and employment patterns in the global apparel commodity chain. The country limits of the agreement was a piece of U.S. legislation to set up quotas on all textile-manufacturing nations, and grew out of a series of voluntary export restrictions imposed by primarily the US, Japan and the UK from 1955 to the early 1970s on imports from mainly Hong Kong, India and Pakistan (Brambilla, et al., 2007). Henceforth, the restrictions were primarily applied to developing countries and the amount they could export to developed nations. In a period of over 30 years, developed countries used these quotas to protect their domestic textile jobs, but in fact, it also guaranteed textile producers around the world to export their full limit to the largest markets such as the US and Europe. For example, once the quota of textiles imported from Taiwan was full, US purchasers

would then import goods from Korea or another country that had quota available (White and Case, 2004). The quotas also helped establish apparel plants in countries without an apparel industry, which meant they had no quota restrictions at that time. Other countries had preferential trade agreements and were granted higher quotas than their competitors.

During the Uruguay Round, the last multilateral trade negotiation round under the auspices of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), it was decided that the World Trade Organisation (WTO) should replace the GATT. Trade disciplines would be extended to textile trade under the WTO Agreement on Textiles and Clothing (ATC), replacing the MFA in 1995 (WTO, 2014a). Under the ATC, countries agreed to eliminate quotas on textiles and clothing, with the transition to the new agreement to take place in four steps phased in over a ten-year period. During the first phase of the quota removal, occurring between 1995 and 1997, the WTO members had to integrate a minimum of 16 percent of the total volume of their 1990 imports, followed by 17 percent the next four years and then 18 percent in the three subsequent years. The fourth and final step occurred on the date of full integration, 1 January 2005, with the remaining 49 percent of the benchmark 1990 imports (Nordås, 2004).

With nearly half of the quotas remaining until 2005, the transition process was heavily backloaded (Yang, 1999). If importing countries chose to liberalize products that were not regulated by the MFA, then most of the transition would not happen before the very end. This unbalanced phase-out would cause a more rapid and painful change than would a steady and careful elimination over a 10-year period. Clothing products have a higher value added than raw textile materials; hence, most countries left these to the final stage of the phase out (Nordås, 2004). Table 2.1 shows the amount of restrictions still underlying the quota system before the final stage and the share of clothing constraints of the already integrated products.

| | Constraints carried over | Remaining constraints to be | Share clothing constraints | | |
|--------|--------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------|--|--|
| | from MFA | eliminated 01.01.2005 | eliminated before step 4 (%) | | |
| USA | 758 | 701 | 6,5 | | |
| EU | 218 | 167 | 6 | | |
| Canada | 295 | 239 | 7 | | |

| Table 2.1: Integration progre | 255 |
|-------------------------------|-----|
|-------------------------------|-----|

Source: Nordås, 2004

With more than 90 percent of the constraints remaining until 1 January 2005, the full effects of the quota phase out would not be felt until then. The elimination of quotas led to increased protectionism through measures such as tariffs, anti-dumping and countervailing duties as substitutes for the previous trade barriers. Anti-dumping actions are used to protect local industry from imports that WTO rules otherwise force them to accept, like products priced below production costs or goods that are sold on the domestic market at a higher price than like goods sold on world markets, and uses a third country or a reference price to determine dumping margins. Anti-dumping sanctions are increasing faster for textile products than other imports (Neufeld, 2001). In WTO's statistics on use of anti-dumping actions, the textile and article sector is the fourth in most anti-dumping practices. From 1995 to 2013, there were 245 anti-dumping actions, by which 68 submissions were towards China, 18 to Indonesia and 13 to India (WTO, 2014b).

The significant changes in regulations in the post-MFA era caused even bigger changes in the textile and clothing trade market, when export values exploded. With the quotas gone, developing countries should have been enthusiastic for the possibility to export more. Instead, as China entered the WTO in 2001, most countries were concerned that the removal of quotas would harm their textile industry. In 2005, Chinese apparel exports grew over 20 percent in value terms, causing great discomfort for developing countries. In June that year, EU managed to impose new quotas placed on Chinese textile goods that expired at the end of 2008 (Barbarosa and Meller, 2005). China agreed to the exception as a way to moderate the fears that its accession to the WTO would harm other members. This gave a three-year window for developing countries to win market share before China could completely participate. However, once the quotas were completely removed, the market share would go to the countries with the cheapest labour and cheapest raw material. Because China had the cheapest labour and cheapest textile industries in the world, developing countries were concerned that their products would not be able to compete if China could export without limits.

2.1.2 The Global Financial Crisis

The global financial crisis in 2008 is considered the other large event beside the MFA-phase out that affected the apparel industry the past 20 years. The economic crisis hit the apparel industry in the form of lower demand from the American and European markets, which led to

decreasing order volumes from apparel suppliers (Maquila Solidarity Network, 2009). This led to factory shutdowns and sharp increases in unemployment for many apparel exporters. World apparel exports fell by 13 percent in 2009, and of the sample countries, Cambodia experienced the worst drop in export values at 19 percent that year (UN Comtrade, 2014). China's exports dropped by 13 percent, Indonesia's by 6 percent and Vietnam's by 2 percent. Exports from India grew in 2009, but decreased by 6 percent in 2010. Bangladesh were the only country that did not see a drop in apparel exports during or after the financial crisis.

Employment in the apparel sector was hit especially hard due to lower need for production, and it is determined that 11 million people in the apparel industry lost their job because of the crisis, and a further 3 million workers on short-time contracts, out of an estimated apparel workforce of 60 million (Maquila Solidarity Network, 2009). The amount of apparel factory shutdowns due to the crisis was estimated to 8000 in the emerging economies.

2.2 Apparel export performance

2.2.1 Export values and market shares

Apparel export values and export market shares are the main aspects in order to detect the nations' export performance. China is by far the largest exporter of apparel products, and gai-

| Rank | Country | Export value in million \$USD | World share |
|------|------------|-------------------------------|-------------|
| 1 | China | 148 270 | 35,08 % |
| 2 | Hong Kong | 21 281 | 5,03 % |
| 3 | Italy | 20 345 | 4,81 % |
| 4 | Bangladesh | 19 788 | 4,68 % |
| 5 | Germany | 18 468 | 4,37 % |
| 6 | Viet Nam | 14 079 | 3,33 % |
| 7 | Turkey | 13 864 | 3,28 % |
| 8 | India | 12 896 | 3,05 % |
| 9 | France | 9 440 | 2,23 % |
| 10 | Spain | 9 278 | 2,20 % |
| 13 | Indonesia | 7 184 | 1,70 % |
| 16 | Cambodia | 4 278 | 1,01 % |

Table 2.2: Apparel exports and share of global exports in 2012

Source: UN Comtrade, 2014; Bangladesh: BGMEA, 2014a; world data: WTO, 2014c.

ned the leading position in 1994, when it exceeded Hong Kong. Apparel exports from Hong Kong are mainly re-exports from China, which in 2012 accounted for 92 percent of the total

export value (HKTDC Research, 2014); consequently, Hong Kong is not included among the top exporters if re-exports are omitted. Table 2.2 shows top apparel exporting countries in export value terms in 2012. Apparel export values are from HS chapters 61 and 62 (UN Comtrade, 2014). Four of the six countries included in this analysis are among the top ten apparel exporters. Four of the remaining nations are developed countries and are assumed to export more sophisticated and higher value-added products than the developing countries. World apparel exports in 2012 were valued at almost US\$ 423 billion, to which China contributed 35 percent.

| Vears China | | Bangladesh | Cambodia | India | Indonesia | Vietnam | World |
|-------------|---------|------------|----------|-----------------|-----------|---------|---------|
| Tears | | | (Value | es in million s | \$USD) | | |
| 1993 | 16 574 | 1 306 | - | 2 586 | 3 391 | - | 128 792 |
| 1994 | 21 341 | 1 477 | - | 3 282 | 3 078 | - | 140 757 |
| 1995 | 21 282 | 1 969 | - | 3 665 | 3 242 | - | 158 353 |
| 1996 | 22 197 | 2 218 | - | 3 753 | 3 454 | - | 166 077 |
| 1997 | 28 642 | 2 688 | - | 3 879 | 2 785 | - | 177 616 |
| 1998 | 27 110 | 3 784 | - | 4 365 | 2 518 | - | 185 963 |
| 1999 | 27 327 | - | - | 4 795 | 3 735 | - | 184 587 |
| 2000 | 32 290 | 4 120 | 963 | 5 465 | 4 562 | 1 789 | 197 786 |
| 2001 | 32 408 | 4 039 | 1 130 | 5 044 | 4 345 | 1 820 | 194 451 |
| 2002 | 36 566 | 4 057 | 1 303 | 5 499 | 3 805 | 2 562 | 203 865 |
| 2003 | 45 757 | 5 041 | 1 593 | 5 916 | 3 982 | 3 386 | 233 243 |
| 2004 | 54 783 | 6 231 | 1 973 | 6 415 | 4 290 | 4 136 | 259 813 |
| 2005 | 65 902 | 6 846 | 2 202 | 8 201 | 4 900 | 4 558 | 277 988 |
| 2006 | 88 621 | 8 252 | 2 634 | 9 015 | 5 534 | 5 417 | 309 264 |
| 2007 | 108 881 | 9 323 | 2 657 | 9 373 | 5 631 | 7 204 | 347 132 |
| 2008 | 113 368 | 11 877 | 3 008 | 10 265 | 6 016 | 8 500 | 363 892 |
| 2009 | 100 479 | 11 892 | 2 436 | 11 312 | 5 661 | 8 329 | 316 381 |
| 2010 | 121 072 | 14 855 | 3 033 | 10 604 | 6 501 | 10 119 | 353 092 |
| 2011 | 143 238 | 19 214 | 3 983 | 13 745 | 7 691 | 12 820 | 416 521 |
| 2012 | 148 270 | 19 788 | 4 278 | 12 896 | 7 184 | 14 079 | 422 686 |

Table 2.3: Apparel exports by regional countries

Source: UN Comtrade, 2014; Bangladesh after 2007: BGMEA, 2014a; World: WTO, 2014c.

Table 2.3 illustrate apparel export values during the period of study. Chinese apparel exports have grown by an average of 12 percent the past 20 years. From an export value of US\$ 16.5 billion in 1993, it has increased eleven times this value to over US\$ 148 billion in 2012. This reflects the economic expansion that has occurred in China. Bangladesh has had the best percentage increase in apparel exports since 1993. Starting with global exports valued US\$ 1.3 billion that year, it rose to nearly US\$ 19.8 billion in 2012, an increase of 1400 percent or an

average yearly growth of over 15 percent. Compared with China, which had an average yearly growth in apparel exports of 12 percent over the period, the performance of Bangladesh was better. Bangladesh is a relatively new country and started with almost nothing when it gained its independence from Pakistan in 1971 (Szczepanski, 2014), however, it has managed to become one of the leading global clothing exporters by 2012. According to Bangladesh Garment Manufacturers and Exporters Association (BGMEA), Bangladesh is the second largest clothing exporting country in the world (BGMEA, 2014b). Average yearly growth from 2000 to 2012 was 14 percent for Bangladeshi apparel exports, surpassed only by Vietnam, which experienced yearly growth of 19 percent since 2000. Vietnamese apparel exports increased from a value of US\$ 1.8 billion in 2000 to US\$ 14 billion in 2012. Indonesia was the second largest apparel exporter of the five countries in 1993 with an export value of US\$ 3.4 billion, but has had the weakest growth of all with an average yearly rate of about 4 percent both from 1993 and from 2000 to 2012.

India was one of the countries in addition to China expected to gain from the MFA quota phase out because of its large population and market power. However, it is the country with the second lowest growth in apparel exports after 2004, averaging 9 percent annually, only surpassing Indonesia whose growth was 6.5 percent per year since 2004. Until 2004, India's yearly growth in apparel exports was only 0.5 percent lower than after the quota elimination, suggesting that India was hardly affected by the changes in the multilateral trade regime. Yet, India was the eighth largest apparel exporting country in 2012 with an export value of US\$ 12.9 billion.

Cambodia had the smallest export value of the countries in 2012 at US\$ 4.3 billion. The garment and textile industry in Cambodia started relatively late, after the Cambodian-Vietnamese War (1979-1991), when foreign investors set up manufacturing there in 1993 (Thomasson, 2013a). From 2000 to 2004, Cambodian exports grew by an average of 20 percent per year at a time when foreign investors took advantage of unused quotas. Cambodia faced tougher competition after the quotas were gone, and growth in apparel exports averaged 10 percent per year from 2004 to 2012.

2.2.2 Apparel reliance

Trade is a key means to fight poverty, and the Asian developing countries included in this study highly depend on their apparel exports. Not only as a way to earn foreign capital and investment, but the textile and apparel sector is the largest employer in these countries.

| Exporter | 1993 | 1998 | 2001 | 2005 | 2008 | 2012 |
|------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| China | 18 % | 15 % | 12 % | 9% | 8% | 7 % |
| Bangladesh | 51% | 74 % | 66 % | 74 % | 77 % | 79 % |
| Cambodia | - | - | 75 % | 71 % | 64 % | 52 % |
| India | 12 % | 13 % | 12 % | 8% | 5 % | 4% |
| Indonesia | 9% | 5 % | 8% | 6% | 4% | 4 % |
| Vietnam | - | - | 12 % | 14 % | 14 % | 12 % |

Table 2.4: Apparel exports as a percentage of total merchandise exports

Sources: Apparel exports: UN Comtrade database, Total merchandise exports: WTO, 2014a.

Table 2.4 show that Bangladesh and Cambodia are the countries that rely most on their apparel exports. Bangladesh is the only country where the apparel exports are still increasing in importance, and in 2012, it accounted for 79 percent of all merchandise exports. Cambodia is still heavily dependent of the apparel sector with 52 percent, but the reliance is diminishing. In 2001, 75 percent of all merchandise exports were apparel products. Vietnam's apparel exports have been stable at around 12-14 percent since 2000. The other countries have had decreasing importance of apparel exports, indicating that they have upgraded to a higher value-added part of the apparel GVC or moved to more high-tech and capital-intensive products. Analyses show that as economies become more developed, the contribution of capital-intensive inputs to GDP growth increases relative to the labour-intensive inputs (Ross, 2010). In the case of China, exports of high-tech products have grown rapidly with an average rate of 22 percent per year since 2002, and has taken a 29 percent share of exports in 2012 (World Bank, 2014b). Thus, while apparel exports has decreased in importance, high-tech products has become more significant. Frederick and Staritz (2011) and Staritz (2012) have similar calculations of apparel reliance in their studies. Values available are from 1990, 2000, 2004 and 2007-2010 for Bangladesh, Cambodia, India and Vietnam. Most statistics support values in table 2.4, however two are significantly different. They report that apparel exports from Cambodia consisted of 85 percent of merchandise exports in 2008 and 79 percent from Bangladesh in 2000. Using clothing export values compiled from the WTO statistic database instead of the UN Comtrade, as Frederick and Staritz (2011) states they did, the value of 79

percent from Bangladesh in 2000 is supported; however, the value of 85 percent from Cambodia is not. Thomasson (2013a) reports that 85 percent of Cambodia's exports consist of textile and clothing, hence this figure is not only for apparels.

2.3 Export markets

The export markets from all nations have changed between 1993/2000 and 2012, and capturing new markets is important to increase profits. For China, Bangladesh, Cambodia and India, the top six importing countries consisted of a larger part of all exports in 1993 (2000 for Cambodia) than in 2012, which implies they have diversified their exports to new markets or increased their exports to existing markets. Another possibility is that the exports to their principal importers have decreased between the years. China's top export markets in 1993 imported 79 percent of China's export basket, while the top six countries in 2012 imported 49 percent of the exports. When Russia, as the sixth largest importer of China's garment exports in 2012, accounted for only three percent, China must have diversified its export markets around the world.

| Exporter | China | | Banglades | h | Cambodia | à | India | | Indonesia | | Vietnam | |
|-----------|-----------|----|-------------|----|-------------|----|-------------|----|--------------|----|-------------|----|
| | Hong Kong | 29 | USA | 53 | USA | 76 | USA | 27 | USA | 27 | Japan | 32 |
| | Japan | 24 | Germany | 12 | UK | 8 | Germany | 12 | Germany | 10 | Other Asia | 14 |
| Importers | USA | 15 | UK | 8 | Germany | 6 | UK | 10 | Japan | 9 | Germany | 14 |
| 1993/2000 | Russia | 4 | France | 8 | France | 2 | France | 7 | Singapore | 8 | France | 4 |
| | Germany | 4 | Italy | 6 | Netherlands | 2 | UAE | 5 | UK | 8 | UK | 4 |
| | Australia | 2 | Netherlands | 4 | Ireland | 1 | Netherlands | 5 | Saudi Arabia | 6 | South Korea | 3 |
| Others | | 21 | | 10 | | 4 | | 33 | | 33 | | 28 |
| | USA | 18 | USA | 23 | USA | 45 | USA | 24 | USA | 53 | USA | 53 |
| | Japan | 14 | Germany | 17 | UK | 9 | UK | 12 | Germany | 8 | Japan | 13 |
| Importers | Hong Kong | 5 | UK | 11 | Canada | 9 | UAE | 11 | Japan | 7 | South Korea | 7 |
| 2012 | Germany | 5 | France | 6 | Germany | 8 | Germany | 7 | UK | 4 | Germany | 4 |
| | UK | 4 | Spain | 6 | Japan | 3 | France | 5 | South Korea | 3 | UK | 3 |
| | Russia | 3 | Others EU | 18 | Spain | 3 | Spain | 4 | UAE | 2 | Spain | 3 |
| Others | | 51 | | 37 | | 22 | | 37 | | 23 | | 18 |

Table 2.5: Principle export markets 1993/2000 and 2012

Source: UN Comtrade, 2014; BGMEA, 2014a.

The USA imported 53 percent of Bangladeshi apparel products in 1993 with a value of US\$ 685 million, and although exports there in 2012 valued almost US\$ 5 billion, its share of total exports from Bangladesh had declined to 23 percent. However, the US was still the largest market for Bangladesh in 2012. Only 10 percent of total exports in 1993 were shipped to other

countries than the top six, even without counting for the EU as a whole, as is done for 2012. The USA and the EU are the major importers both years, but 37 percent of the exports in 2012 were distributed to other parts of the world, which is second highest after China. The European Union as a whole accounted for 58 percent of all apparel exports, and Bangladesh shipped garment products for US\$ 12.5 billion there in the fiscal year 2012-2013 (BGMEA, 2014a).

Cambodia exported 76 percent of its apparel goods to the US in 2000 and only 4 percent were sent to other markets than its top six. The country still relied heavily on the US for its apparel exports in 2012, but to a smaller degree, at 45 percent. Exports to countries outside the top six increased to 22 percent, showing that Cambodia also managed to expand its market. For Indonesia and Vietnam, the share of exports to other markets than their top six declined between the two examined years. Indonesia became more dependent of the US, which imported 53 percent of total in 2012 and 27 percent in 1993. The US also imported 53 percent of Vietnamese apparel exports in 2012, and the US was not even among the top six in 2000. Bangladesh exports most of its apparel products to the USA, Germany, the UK and France. The European Union as a whole account for 58 percent of all exports, and Bangladesh shipped garment products for US\$ 12.5 billion there in the fiscal year 2012-2013 (BGMEA, 2014a). Indian exports in both 1993 and 2012 were mainly shipped to the US, the EU and The United Arab Emirates (UAE). The strong economic relations between India and the UAE is due to the Indian Diaspora living in UAE, which amounts to almost two million Indians living and working there. This is the largest expatriate group in the UAE and account for 30 percent of the population (UAE Embassy, 2014).

2.4 Tariffs and preferential trade agreements

In the post-MFA era, world apparel trade flows were no longer restrained by quotas, but the tariffs still played a central role to shape and control the market. Average most favoured nation (MFN) tariffs on imports of apparel in 2012 for the US were 11.6, but varied considerably for different product groups between 2.8 and 32 percent (WTO, 2012a). Tariffs on apparel imports to the EU varied between 0 and 12 percent, with average MFN tariffs at 11.5 percent (WTO, 2012b). These tariffs on apparel products are considerably higher than the average of manufactured products, which was 2.6 percent for the US and 4 percent for

the EU. Only fish and fish products to the EU had higher tariff duties of the manufactures goods, with an average MFN tariffs at 11.8 percent.

An important aspect in calculating the appropriate tariff treatment on imported products is establishing the country of origin (Trebilcock and Howse, 2005). In the apparel industry, goods may be processed, assembled, packaged or finished in a variety of different countries, or shipped via another country before entering the end market. The rules-of-origin (ROO) are used to determine whether a product may be considered as necessarily linked to the country from which it is exported to say that it 'originates' from it. There are no multilateral rules that control the determination of rules of origin, and are generally categorized as either preferential or non-preferential. The former eases market access to particular markets, while the latter restrict access. Most developing countries are classified as preferential countries. One way to establish the originating country is depending on the number of transportation stages in which the specific product has been involved (EC, 2013b). For a product to be from a particular state, it must be substantially transformed there, and the traditional substantial transformation rule states that a good originates in the last country where it emerged from a given process into a new and different article, with a distinctive name, character or use (Weiler et al., 2011). To prevent a product from having multiple countries of origin, the good is a product of the country where it last underwent substantial transformation. However, different countries have different rules for establishing origin.

For apparel, it is common to differentiate the rules-of-origin in single, double and triple transformation (Staritz, 2012). The single transformation is where only the sewing stage has to take place, double transformation means the sewing stage and one input production step has to occur, such as knitting or weaving of fabric, and triple transformation is where, in addition to the latter two, also the spinning of yarn has to take place in the beneficiary country.

Since apparel exports face some of the highest tariffs of manufactured products, preferential market access plays a substantial role for apparel exporting countries and has an important impact on global production and trade patterns. China only have one preferential trade agreement among its largest markets, namely a Closer Economic Partnership Agreement (CEPA) with Hong Kong. A free trade agreement (FTA) with Australia was signed in 2005 (ARIC, 2014), but it has not gone into effect due to concerns for Australia's agriculture industry

14

(Devonshire-Ellis, 2014). The countries' most important preferential trade agreements are listed in table 2.6, and a complementary figure is available in the appendix.

| | Bilateral | Regional | Others |
|------------|--|----------|--------|
| China | Hong Kong: Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement (2003) | | |
| Bangladesh | | | GSP |
| | | | EBA |
| Cambodia | USA: Bilateral Textile Trade Agreement (1999) | ASEAN | GSP |
| | USA: Bilateral Trade and Investment Framework Agreement (2006) | | EBA |
| India | | SAARC | GSP |
| Indonesia | Japan: Economic Partnership Agreement (2008) | ASEAN | GSP |
| | USA: Bilateral Trade and Investment Framework Agreement (1996) | | |
| Vietnam | USA: Bilateral Trade Agreement (2001) | ASEAN | |
| | Japan: FTA (2009) | SAARC | GSP |
| | Chile: FTA (2012) | | |

Sources: ARIC, 2014; EC, 2013a; ASEAN, 2014a; Staritz and Frederick, 2012

All the countries included in this thesis except China enjoys preferential treatment on their apparel exports to the EU through the Generalized System of Preferences, GSP (USTR, 2014). The GSP scheme provide reduced or zero tariff rates to developing countries over the MFN rates and started early in the 1980s (UNCTAD, 2014). The MFN principle is that all members of the WTO must treat all other members no worse than they treat the imports from their "most favoured" trading partner. Some GSP granting nations also offer extra beneficial tariff rates to the least developed countries (LDCs), a category to which Bangladesh and Cambodia belong. One of these schemes is the "Everything but Arms" (EBA) initiative by the EU, which has granted most products except arms and ammunition from the 49 LDCs full duty-free and quota-free access to the European market since 2001 (EC, 2013a). Most countries' ROO on apparel products are double transformation. However, in 2011, the EU relaxed this policy and the countries qualified for the EBA preferences could enjoy single transformation ROO, meaning that the clothing production stage is enough to be eligible for preferential market access to the EU (Staritz and Frederick, 2012). This was particularly beneficial for Cambodia as it imports all its fabrics.

The GSP scheme has also suspended the tariff preferences for some countries and particular goods in respect of a GSP beneficiary country concerned (EU, 2012). China is suspended tariff

preferences for both textiles and apparels, while India cannot enjoy lower tariff rates on its textile exports. The GSP rate on apparels are slightly lower than the MFN rate, but with the competition from Bangladesh, which benefits from the duty-free treatment, the overall effect of the GSP on India's apparel exports is negative (Hoda and Prakash 2011).

At the regional level, three of the countries analysed in this paper are members of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), which was established to promote economic growth and cooperation, and welfare of the people in the region (ASEAN, 2014a). Cambodia, Indonesia and Vietnam therefore enjoys preferential trade agreements through this association with Japan, India, South Korea, China, Australia and New Zealand in addition to the other members (ASEAN, 2014b). Another important regional collaboration is the South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation (SAARC), by which Bangladesh and India are among the member states. However, the potential for regional trade in the apparel sector is largely unused (Staritz and Frederick, 2012).

In addition to the agreements through ASEAN and GSP, Cambodia has also benefited from bilateral trade agreements with the US. A textile trade agreement was signed in 1999 that allowed increased clothing exports from Cambodia if it reformed its labour laws with the assistance of the International Labour Organization (ILO, 2009). When the MFA was phased out at the end of 2004, so was the US-Cambodia Bilateral Textile Agreement that was based on the quota system. Nevertheless, the Cambodian government and apparel firms decided to continue the ILO monitoring program. The two countries signed a new agreement, a bilateral Trade and Investment Framework Agreement (TIFA), in 2006, securing the future for Cambodian exports, especially because the US is by far the most important market where 45 percent of apparel shipments were headed to in 2012.

As of 2012, India does not have free trade agreements with any of its principal export markets, but is negotiation one with the UK alone (*Economic Times*, 2013), and one with the EU (ARIC, 2014). In 2006, the India – Gulf Cooperation Council Free Trade Area was signed, which the United Arab Emirates is a part of, but has yet to go into effect.

Indonesia was one of the founders of ASEAN in 1967, but in contrast to some of the other members, Indonesia has not signed any free trade agreements with the US or the EU, which may have affected its competitiveness. Several agreements have been proposed or negotiated, but most have gone unsigned (ARIC, 2014). However, the US and Indonesia signed a trade and investment framework agreement (TIFA) in 1996 which the two parties both benefits from. The Japanese market's importance for Indonesia may be due to the Japan-Indonesia Economic Partnership Agreement, signed in 2008.

The United States is also the major export market for Vietnamese apparels and the two parties signed the US-Vietnam Bilateral Trade Agreement that went into effect in December 2001, opening up the US market by reducing tariffs from an average on 40 percent to three percent (US Embassy, 2014a). The following year, Vietnam's apparel exports to the US increased 20 times the value in 2001, to US\$ 995 million. Another important agreement with the US is the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP). The United States, Vietnam and ten other countries are working on a free trade agreement to promote innovation, economic growth and development, and create more jobs. The TPP is bringing together some of the fastest growing community, accounting for nearly 30 percent of global GDP (US Embassy, 2014b). Japan is Vietnam's second largest importer of apparels and the two countries signed a free trade agreement in 2009, which accelerated the trade. Through the ASEAN, Vietnam has a free trade agreement with South Korea as well, which was the third largest export market in 2012.

2.5 Backward linkages and government policies

China is involved in the whole textile and apparel value chain, and the sector is vertically integrated in all stages of the fibre-, textile- and apparel production, because of its large supply of raw materials and huge supply of productive labour. China is also the main source of inputs to apparel production for the other countries. Because of its large apparel supply, China meets restrictions rather than preferential treatment like its competitors do, and relies heavily on competitive prices, effective workers and decent infrastructure. The government provided almost US\$ 500 million in public funds to China's textile and apparel industry between 1997 and 2000 in the form of grants or tax forgiveness. In addition, large quantities of advanced apparel equipment for US \$ 18.9 billion were imported to upgrade the industry from 2000 to 2005 (Stewart, 2007). These actions, together with the overall improvement of the economic situation in China, turned the Chinese apparel industry into the largest in the world.

Local sources in Bangladesh are able to supply about 80 percent of the apparel industry's demand for accessories such as thread, buttons, labels and bags. However, the industry highly relies on imported woven fabric and yarn because the local textile industry does not meet the quality, quantity or variety restrictions (Staritz and Frederick, 2012). The supply chain for knitted apparels, however, are well established, and the suppliers can create 85-90 percent of the fabrics and about 75 percent of the yarn required. To support the knitted industry, a dying and finishing sector has emerged, but the woven sector is not as developed. Cotton is almost completely imported, and the value of cotton imports has increased more rapidly than the value of textile imports due to the differences in the two sectors' developments. Investment costs vary between the knitted and woven industry, and a factory for woven fabric production is about 10 times as expensive as a knit fabric mill (Staritz and Frederick, 2012).

Bangladesh's apparel export sector started in the late 1970s when manufacturers from the NIEs were motivated by available MFA quotas and Bangladesh's huge supply of low-cost labour. Local entrepreneurs followed, and the government introduced two important policies to develop the apparel industry. The first was a system of bonded warehouses where firms could delay tariff payments until they were ready to consume the imported inputs, and if the inputs were used for producing exports, they were not obligated to pay the tariffs at all. The second policy involved deducted charges and interest from the local bank on imported inputs that were used for export products. Thus, the manufacturers saved the financial involvement in purchasing inputs from abroad. International institutions had an important role in funding infrastructure, but also skill development in cooperation with the government or industry associations (Staritz and Frederick, 2012). The government also encouraged the knitted sector with low interest rates and government support to land development, power and infrastructure. Because of larger costs to invest in the woven sector, this was only applied to the knitted segment.

Cambodia's apparel industry has weak domestic linkages and imports most of the inputs for the apparel production. This includes over 90 percent of its textile inputs, and most of the accessory, packaging and presentation materials (Savchenko, 2012). The mass-production garment industry was established when foreign investors from Hong Kong, Taiwan, Malaysia and Singapore put up factories there around 1994, and about 90 percent of Cambodia's apparel plants are still foreign owned today (Natsuda et al., 2009). Cambodia was an attractive market, because it faced no quota restrictions to the US and the EU because it was not part of the MFA system at the time. The high dependency of Cambodian input imports could be explained by the foreign ownership, which give local apparel firms in Cambodia limited decision power. Cambodia's apparel industry is concentrated in cut-make-trim (CMT) production, which is the first step in the apparel chain, displaying that Cambodia has a huge upgrading potential.

The government in Cambodia has generally supported the development of the apparel sector, starting with approving the establishment of 100 percent foreign-owned factories in 1994 (Savchenko, 2012). The government also improved the business environment and provided favourable policies for foreign investors, e.g. duty-free imports for export sectors, new laws to establish export-processing zones (EPZs), tax holidays and financial incentives (Natsuda et al., 2009). However, most of the policies were oriented to attract foreign direct investment (FDI) rather than upgrading the apparel industry, and the government was not very efficient in implementing the policies (Savchenko, 2012). The government did prepare a strategy in 2005 to face the MFA quota phase out – the Cambodian Garment Industry Development Strategy – where the main tasks was to develop the garment industry, sustain export competitiveness and diversify its exports in niche markets. The government also initiated a few programs to maintain apparel exports and keep jobs to cope with the financial crisis in 2008. These included cuts to export fees on apparel costs by 10 percent and supported diversification to new markets.

India is one of the few nations in the world other than China that has a vertically integrated textile and garment sector, which includes all stages of fiber-, textile- and apparel production (Staritz and Frederick, 2012). This is because of the significant raw material base India holds. Until the 1980s, India's textile and apparel sectors were aimed to the domestic market, but the industries began to be liberalized and then integrated into world markets. Unlike Bangladesh and Cambodia, which integration to the global industry was based on "quota-hopping", India's integration was driven by local firms that restructured and extended their export markets.

The Indian state implied policies to shape the textile and apparel sectors, which included a strict licensing regime where firms were required to get permission to establish or expand

ventures, reservation policies, where apparel production was reserved for small-scale businesses, and the government controlled exports and imports (Staritz and Frederick, 2012).

Indonesia also has a well-established textile industry that involves almost every part of the textile and apparel supply chain, including production of man-made fibers (MMF), and cotton spinning, weaving and knitting, dyeing, printing and finishing and apparel products manufacturing. Indonesia's Ministry of Industry (MOI) committed to help the industry through fiscal incentives for the industry to stay competitive on the global market, and the government is investing in new textile machinery (Thomasson, 2013b).

Vietnam is highly dependent on imported raw materials and inputs, especially from China, which contribute 50 percent of imported materials, including cotton, yarn and fabric. VINATEX is a state-owned and state-controlled company, which control most of Vietnam's textile and garment production and export (Thomasson, 2014). The corporation is aware of the need to develop domestic raw material production and reduce the dependence on imports. The strategy is to increase its raw material imports while still meeting export demand by investing in 57 projects, including cotton farming, yarn spinning, weaving and garment manufacturing in 2014 (Thomasson 2014). Vietnam was not a member of the WTO until 2007, which meant the nation's exports were still restricted by the quotas until that year. The export oriented apparel sector in Vietnam started by the adoption of the "doi-moi" reform in 1986, which was set to reduce the amount of governance interference and move to a more market-based economy (Thoburn, 2009). This led to growth in exports and attraction of FDI, yet, stateowned enterprises (SOEs) still played a critical role in the economy and industrial development, like VINATEX in the apparel industry. The accession to the WTO in 2007 improved market access and cost competitiveness, and Vietnam's apparel exports started to accelerate. Moreover, the apparel sector has also upgraded production processes, capabilities and backward linkages. The government's and some SOEs' investments in modernised equipment increased Vietnam's productivity in the apparel sector during the 1990s and 2000s, which was a strategy to cope with the post-MFA effects. Other government actions involved improved infrastructure, reduction of import tariffs, support of MMF and yarns production and support of product development, design and branding capabilities.

20

The preferential agreements and government policies to promote exports have all evolved related to how international trade has evolved since its start. The next chapter explains the concepts of international trade and provide related literature on the apparel industry in Asia.

Chapter 3: Theory and related literature

3.1 Trade theory

This chapter contains the evolution of international trade and introduces the global value chain. It also addresses several related studies on the apparel industry in Asia and mainly on how the elimination of the MFA quotas affected the global trade.

3.1.1 Trade history

One of the earliest advocates of the advantages of international trade was Adam Smith (Langdana and Murphy, 2014). In the 18th century, he proposed a theory to explain that nations can benefit from trading with each other because different countries will use different quantities of resources in producing the same goods. Thus, each nation should specialize in the production of the good(s) in which it has an input-cost advantage. Through the process of specialization, global output is maximized, and by trading freely, each nation will obtain a greater quantity of goods than before. The idea was called absolute advantage, and a country is said to have absolute advantage in for example sweaters when it can make one sweater with fewer units of labour than other countries. Another country could have an absolute advantage in producing pants. Thus, under complete specialization without trade, one country would have sweaters but no pants and the other country would have pants but no sweaters. The countries had to trade freely with each other where they produced and exported products in which they had absolute advantage and imported the others.





Source: Author's explanation

Absolute advantage is explained in figure 3.1, where country 1 has an absolute advantage in producing pants and country 2 has an absolute advantage in producing sweaters, assuming they have the same amount of inputs. However, there was a problem in the idea if more countries were added to the theory that was neither the most efficient producer of sweaters nor the most efficient producer of pants.

David Ricardo refined Adam Smith's theory in the early 19th century by developing the concept of comparative advantage, where a country only has to have a relative cost advantage to benefit from trade. A country has a comparative advantage in the goods and/or services that it makes or provides more efficiently relative to another country (Langdana and Murphy, 2014). Ricardo argued that the basis for trade between countries was international differences in labour productivity, and his original model had the assumption that labour was the only factor of production. Ricardo theorized that each country exports the commodities that it can produce at lower average labour costs, thus more productively, compared to other commodities. Differences in labour productivity between countries result in a price difference for the same good in different countries. This price difference is the reason countries can benefit from engaging in trade.





Source: Author's explanation

Figure 3.2 shows the advantages of trade, even though country 1 has absolute advantage in pants and sweaters, they would both benefit from trade. Country 2's opportunity cost is 1 pair of pants against 3 sweaters and would be willing to trade anything less than this. If country 1

initially produced 40 pants and country 2 produced 30 sweaters, and country 2 want to trade 20 sweaters for 10 pants, country 1 would end up in point A, which is better off than before. However, when country 2 give away 20 sweaters and get 10 pants, this country would be better off than before as well in point B.

Another important factor in productivity is capital, which later was added to Ricardo's model. Capital is a measure for all non-human activities, such as plant and equipment, infrastructure and buildings. Nevertheless, the theory still suffered from simplifying assumptions, such as no trade barriers and no transportation costs, which play a vast role in international trade. In the 20th century, international trade theorists tried to extend trade theory beyond explaining why nations trade to explaining why nations trade certain commodities. Several theories have been proposed to explain this composition, and one of them is Porter's (1990) diamond of national competitive advantage. The theory attempts to analyse the reasons for a nation's success in a particular industry (Parrish et al., 2004). Porter postulated four main determinants of national competitive advantage: factor conditions; demand conditions; related and supporting industries; and firm strategy, structure and rivalry. Success occurs where these attributes exist. Moreover, the greater the attribute, the higher chance of success. The factor endowments are a nation's position in factors of production such as skilled labour or infrastructure necessary in a given industry. It consist of basic factors, e.g., natural resources, climate and geographic location, and advanced factors such as skilled labour, research and technology. The demand conditions impacts quality and innovation, while the related and supporting industries creates clusters of supporting industries that are internationally competitive. The determinant of firm strategy, structure and rivalry is the condition of how a nation is governing new companies, and how they are organized and managed. The presence of domestic rivalry improves a company's competitiveness. In addition, two external factors influence the four determinants: chance and government. Porter's theory should predict the pattern of international trade in the real world, where countries should export products from those industries where all four determinants are favourable, while import in those areas where the determinants are not favourable.

Langdana and Murphy (2014) point out that the application of Porter's model on the textile and apparel industry is not as clear-cut as it may seem, because the model only explains why a country becomes the base for a certain industry. However, many studies have been conducted using this theory: Mann & Byun (2011) for a case on India and Jin (2004) for a case on the East Asian newly industrialized countries.

Porter's theory explains the need for upgrading from comparative advantage to competitive advantage in a particular industry. The term "upgrading" is also an important factor when studying an industry as a commodity chain, which describes the transforming process from a product's primary stage to its final stage in which it is delivered to the end users. While new trade theories, like Porter's Diamond Model, explain trade as competitive advantage in industrial clustering, global value chains (GVC) explain trade in intermediate inputs and services within firms, countries or regions (Sydor, 2011).

3.1.2 The Global Value Chain

The concept to use GVCs to analyse international trade started in the 1990s, with Gereffi (1994) as the forerunner. Gereffi (1994) differentiated the characteristics of a GVC and classified it into two groups: buyer-driven and producer-given GVC. The producer-driven chain include capital and technology intensive production, and is mostly coordinated by the producers to deliver parts and finished goods to the end market. This value chain tend to have high barriers of entry because of the needed technology and capital. The buyer-driven GVC tend to have low entry barriers and the producers are depending on the decisions of buyers concerning design and marketing. Apparels is a typical case in a buyer-driven chain, where the major part of production links are connecting to developing countries. One of the main concepts for a buyer-driven chain is economic upgrading, where firms, countries or regions move to higher-value activities in the GVC in order to increase its benefits. In the apparel value chain, this can be linked to a series of economic roles, whereas apparel firms, countries or regions can upgrade to each stage. The stages are described in chapter 4, but one of the stages is of specific importance. The functional upgrading trajectory represents the main categories of apparel suppliers, by which the firms, countries or regions can upgrade within (Gereffi, 1999). Figure 3.3 describes these categories. It can be expected that each time firms, countries or regions enter a new stage; they demand new knowledge and skills. The evolving countries of the East Asian newly industrialized economies (NIEs), South Korea, Taiwan, Singapore and Hong Kong, are a particular example of functional upgrading through these trajectories, and a study on the case completed by Gereffi and Memedovic (2003) is included in the literature review.

| Functional categories | Capabilities | Country example |
|---|--|------------------------------------|
| Assembly (CMT) ↓ | The manufacturer is resposible for sewing apparel and may be responsible for cutting the fabric and providing simple trim (buttons, zippers, etc.). The buyer provides product specifications and the fabric. The apparel factory is paid a processing fee rather than a price for the product. (cut-make-trim) | Cambodia |
| Original Equipment Manufacture (Full package supplier) (OEM) ↓ | The manufacturer purchases (or produces) the textile inputs and provides all production services, finishing, and packaging for delivery to the retail outlet. The customer provides the design and often specifies textile suppliers. | Bangladesh Indonesia Vietnam |
| Original Design Manufacture (ODM) ↓ | The manufacturer is involved in the design and product development process, including the approval of samples and the selection, purchase and production of required materials. | China India |
| Original Brand Manufacture (OBM) | The suppliers develop their own brands and are thus also in charge of branding and marketing. | |

Figure 3.3: Trajectories in functional upgrading

Source: Staritz (2012)

3.2 Related literature

Numerous studies have been completed to provide valuable insights into the impacts of the MFA quota elimination. Although the research scope and analysis method vary from each other, these studies generally agree that quota elimination will put forth significant impacts on global apparel trade and that there would be both winners and losers.

Gereffi (1994) is usually the reference point in the global value chain literature. He has conducted several analyses using the GVC framework, and the apparel industry is often used as an example or the object of the study. Gereffi and Memedovic (2003) view apparel as the ideal industry to examine the dynamics of a buyer-driven value chain. They studied prospects for developing countries to enter and upgrade in the global apparel value chain by explaining the transformations in production, trade and corporate strategies that had changed the global

apparel industry. The East Asian NIEs of Hong Kong, Taiwan, the Republic of Korea and China were used as an example on how to move up the apparel chain, from assembly to the fullpackage production, and to create a permanent advantage in export-oriented development. In the 1960s and 1970s, these countries developed and refined their OEM (full package supplier) capabilities by establishing close relationships with retailers in the US, and then learned by watching to increase their export capability. They became intermediaries between buyers in the US and apparel factories in other developing regions in Asia, to take advantage of lower labour costs and favourable quotas. This is a prime example on how to upgrade in the apparel sector, whereas the East Asian NIEs shifted to higher-value products, e.g. exports of textiles and fibres rather than apparel, or switched to new value chains. The study can be advantageous for this thesis to find evidence of the same upgrading trajectories for Asia's emerging countries today as were found in the already industrialized nations.

Gereffi and Frederick (2010) examined the impacts of the MFA quota phase out in 2005 and the 2008-2009 financial crisis on the changes in supply and demand on the apparel global value chain from 1995-2010, and the two events are highly central in this writing as well. China was considered the big winner after the removal of import quotas because of the export expansion and that the Chinese apparel exporters managed to diversify its exports and gaining market shares in several emerging markets, for instance in Russia. Gereffi and Frederick (2010) further report that other developing countries also gained in the post-MFA era, such as Bangladesh, India, Vietnam and Indonesia. The apparel traders that lost market share were the regional suppliers – Mexico and the Caribbean to the US, and North Africa and Eastern Europe countries to the EU. The effects were most significant for the smaller countries that were privileged by the quota system, which no longer had guaranteed access to the industrialized markets. This study gives indication that China has not crowded out its regional competitors, as they also expanded their exports after the MFA, which is the current study's research question.

The impacts from the global economic crisis was a decrease in demand for apparel products in industrialized markets, which caused a decrease in exporters' value and volume, resulting in massive unemployment, where 30 percent of apparel workers in China and 20 percent in Cambodia lost their jobs, and closing factories. The global market searched for cheaper alternatives in the developing countries to meet the fastidious demand and the most

27

successful apparel exporters before the crisis, such as China and India, were pushed to focus more on domestic demand. The governments of the effected countries reacted to the financial crisis in various ways, ranging from tax incentives to increasing technology and investments on infrastructure.

Bernhardt (2013) introduced a limited version of the GVC framework, which this thesis has adopted, where he used economic and social measures for upgrading in the apparel value chain. The framework is described in more detail in chapter 4, and the results of his study are presented here. Bernhardt measured economic upgrading from increasing export values and export market shares, and social upgrading from increasing employment and higher wages. A sample of 18 developing countries were studied from Asia, Africa, Central America and the Caribbean form 2000-2010. His findings show that the Asian developing countries have performed a lot better than its competitors on other continents in export values and market shares; thus, China, Bangladesh, Cambodia, India, Indonesia and Vietnam were all categorized as clear economic upgraders. Haiti was the only country outside Asia that also qualified as an economic upgrader. Kenya and the Dominican Republic ended up as economic downgraders, where both apparel export value and market share had decreased. Sri Lanka, as the last Asian country, had increased its export value, but lost some of its market share. The rest of the sample also only fulfilled one of the two factors. In the case of social upgrading, the picture changed somewhat. China and India in addition to Jordan and Nicaragua qualified as social upgraders, while Cambodia, Bangladesh, Indonesia and Vietnam managed to increase employment; their real wages fell during the period. For most countries in the sample, increases in export values went hand-in-hand with increase in apparel employment, and decreases in export values coincided with decline in employment. This study relates to the current study, as the framework were adopted from it and studies the same problems of economic and social upgrading.

The analysis further introduce three methods to define overall upgrading or downgrading in the apparel sector, depending on how much each indicator are weighted. In the first method, all four indicators are given equal weight, with the result that China, India, Vietnam and Bangladesh are defined as overall upgraders, while Cambodia and Indonesia are intermediate cases. The second method put more emphasis on the change in each indicator, resulting that if one indicator decline, the more the other indicator has to increase to yield upgrading as a result. For countries relevant of the writing paper, the results became the same as in method 1. In the third method, only countries with all four indicators fulfilled were considered overall upgraders, which was only China and India out of the whole sample. Bangladesh, Indonesia, Cambodia and Vietnam ended as intermediate countries.

Beside the GVC model, several other methods have been used to investigate the apparel industry in Asia and especially how the MFA quota phase out and China's economic growth would affect the developing countries. Yang and Zhong (1998) examined the prospects for China's textile and clothing exports and its implications for other textile and clothing exporters. They analysed 10 regions and 10 commodities in a GTAP model, a multi-sector and multi-country model, to project the growth path in the world economy with particular attention to policy changes in the textile and clothing sector. Two scenarios were considered. One with no policy changes where the MFA quotas remained constant to capture the structural change purely from factor endowments. The other scenario included the trade policies in the MFA quota phase out from the Uruguay Round.

The results showed that China's textile and clothing exports tend to grow less rapidly than overall exports both with and without trade liberalization. For the South-East Asian countries, trade liberalization increases the exports, leading to more rapid growth of textile and clothing exports than overall exports. Yang and Zhong (1998) further report that China's diversification and upgrading give the South-East Asian economies greater opportunities for export expansion, as they move in the same direction as when China replaced the NIEs position as the prime supplier of textiles and clothing to the world market. Hence, the growth rate of China's economy will affect the opportunities for export expansion for the other countries. Slower growth means that China competes in the labour-intensive market for a longer period. However, it would also slow down the clothing exports growth, and the other economies would be able to increase their exports. This paper is supplementing the current paper to show what would have been the case if the MFA quotas still existed.

Even though this study was completed before China's WTO accession and MFA quota removal when the fear of China's high export growth related to the coming policy changes started to rise, the authors concluded that the fear is groundless and that the MFA quota removal will encourage textile and clothing exports from the competing countries. Mlachila and Yang (2004) sounded more concerned. If the appropriate policy responses were not put in place

29

rapidly, countries such as Bangladesh would not be able to compete after the MFA quota phase out, because Bangladesh depended on quota-restrained markets for about 94 percent of its apparel exports. The theories concerning developing countries' performance before, during and after the MFA phase out is certainly enlightening the current paper's enquiries.

Whalley (2006) conducted a case study on Asian developing countries' post-MFA performance. The study was completed only a few months after the quota removal, hence most data were not yet available. The paper relied mostly on other studies and used individual country data for importing and exporting countries. By analysing textile and clothing import values to the US from 2002 to 2005 and to the EU in 2000-2005, the findings were introduced country by country. Findings for China were drawn from an International Labour Organization (ILO) -report from 2005, which compared monthly data from January to April in 2005 to the same months in previous years. The report argue that the growth rate declined month by month over this period because the exporters anticipated that quotas would be abolished and therefore they postponed the shipments until 2005. The reports on India's performance was a fall in clothing exports between January and March 2005 and that India has significant shipments to non-MFA restrained countries and different markets than China, such as the UAE. For Indonesia, imports in the US market rose, but the EU market share fell. The textile sector was holding up well, and the report tells that a US buyer claimed that Indonesian garment producers dominated other suppliers, also China, in price, quality, lead-time and service. Export growth in Bangladesh was high to the EU, but low to the US. This was due to the lack of GSP treatment in the US since domestic content of exports was low and that ROO was a factor in determining the GSP treatment. Cambodia had strong growth rates of exports before the MFA abolition, which continued after the MFA was removed. The growth reflected low cost production and steadily improving quality. For Vietnam, the quotas was still in effect to the US market because Vietnam was not a WTO member at the time. This paper inform and set expectations for what would happen in the future and at the same time give a better picture on the situation at the time of the quota phase out. It is also interesting to see how the situation was before, and compare it to what we know today.

Athukorala (2009) examined China's emerging trade patterns and their implications for East-Asian countries' exports. By estimating a gravity model and conducting several econometric tests, the results for the period 1992-2005 suggested that the competition from China would
not imply proportionate losses in market share for all developing countries. Exports between country "i" and "j" are the dependent variable and explanatory variables are GDP, GDP per capita, distance, relative unit labour cost, real exchange rate, a binary variable indicating the value 1 if the countries share a common border, 0 otherwise, China's exports and a set of dummy variables to capture year-specific effects. The econometric results show that the key explanatory variable, China's exports, is positive and significant in all equations, indicating that China's export expansion has not resulted an absolute export contraction from other countries in third-country markets. However, China has gained market share, and the paper suggests that China's export expansion had a significant dampening effect on export growth of other countries. This paper may suggest that countries included in the writing thesis have been affected negatively by China's increase in exports, because China's gain in market share could have been in favour of other countries.

Lu (2012) conducted a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) to test two hypotheses in order to investigate the impacts of quota elimination on the world clothing trade. The first hypothesis was "Impacts of quota elimination will be related to clothing exporters' economic advancement level. Generally, LDCs will become "losers;" middle-income countries will become "winners" and high-income countries will not be much affected." The second hypothesis was "Impacts of quota elimination will be related to clothing exporters' economic geographic location. In general, Asian exporters will become winners; African countries will become "losers" and impacts on American and European exporters are uncertain." Lu (2012) based his study on trade statistics from 51 clothing exporters from 2000 to 2009 provided by the World Trade Organization (WTO). Major findings in the study was that the exporter's performances had unequal responses to the quota elimination when the geographic location was concerned, but there were no evidence that different economic advancement levels in the countries affected the performance. Further findings included that European countries achieved faster apparel export growth from 2005 to 2009 and gained more market share from 2000 to 2009 than the rest of the world, while North American countries suffered from larger market share losses than world average in the same period. Although China was suggested to be one of the major benefiting countries post-MFA, the paper states that neither China's gains nor other countries' losses should be exaggerated because China's export growth and market share were much more modest than what was found in other studies that only focused on the US and EU markets. The study also found that the other Asian clothing exporters did not turn out to be worse off even when China's exports accelerated. Findings in this study contribute to the deeper understanding of the impacts of the quota phase out and introduce shed light to other export markets than only the EU and the US.

One common conclusion from most studies is that the fear of China caused by the MFA quota elimination was somewhat exaggerated, and that Asian developing countries have performed better than expected. These findings increase trust in like findings in the current writing. The next chapter will describe the data and methodology used for this thesis, where the methodology section starts by explaining how to use the GVC as a framework.

Chapter 4: Data and methodology

4.1 Data

The major source of data collection is annual time series data obtained from the United Nations Commodity Trade Statistics (UN Comtrade 2014) database using the HS classification system. Trade effects are analysed by looking at commodities in the 2-digit and 6-digit HS chapters. On the 2-digit level, chapter 61 covers all knitted products and 62 covers all woven products and together they demonstrate all apparel commodities. The detailed commodities at the 6-digit level are sub-categories of HS61 and HS62 and the products covered are the top exported commodities in 1993/2000 and 2012. The products are 610342, 610349, 610432, 610462, 610469, 610510, 610910, 610990, 611010, 611020, 611030, 611090, 620113, 620193, 620199, 620211, 620293, 620342, 620442, 620462, 620520, 620590, 620610, 620630, 620640 and 621149. Description of the commodities are available in the appendix.

The values at the 6-digit level do not necessarily add up to the total trade value for a given trade dataset as countries may not report everything due to confidentiality, but the missing data may be included at the more aggregated 2-digit level. Another factor catered for is that the imports reported by one country do not match the exports by its trading partner due to various factors including valuation, differences in inclusions/exclusions of particular commodities, timing, transhipments, measurement or reporting errors etc. The term "partner country" in the case of imports is determined by rules of origin established by each country, therefore in the case of imports this do not necessarily imply any direct trading relationship. Data used in this thesis are only calculated from export values to be comparable, and never mixed with import values unless indicated otherwise.

Some countries do not necessarily report their trade statistics each year, and the dataset used for this thesis has some limitations. The time-period should be from 1993, but both Cambodia and Vietnam only started reporting trade data to the UN Comtrade in 2000. This seems to some extent sufficient, regarding the MFA quota phase out was completed in 2005, and the available data still covers 13 years. Data for Bangladesh are missing after 2007, and figures beyond this year are collected from the Bangladesh Garment Manufacturers and Exporters Association (BGMEA, 2014a). Most required data are published in their website; however, some values are only issued in Bangladeshi fiscal years (FY), beginning 1 July and ending 30 June. Where comparison is made with a calendar year (CY), e.g. FY2010-2011 is compared to CY2010. Export data in the UN Comtrade is not offered to the EU as a whole, and for that reason, most trade explanations are completed at country specific markets instead of viewing the EU as one market.

Data for income are collected from the World Bank (2014c), while minimum wages are collected from Wage Indicator (2014) and the Worker Rights Consortium (2013). Data for world trade is gathered from the WTO statistics database (WTO, 2014c).

4.2 Methodology

4.2.1 Global Commodity Value Chain

To investigate and answer the questions posed in chapter 1, a parsimonious approach to develop a global commodity chain framework will be used. A commodity value chain refers to the whole range of activities involved in the design, production and marketing of a product (Gereffi and Fernandez-Stark, 2011). A global value chain (GVC) analysis provides a complete view of global industries, both from a top-down perspective, which focuses on lead firms and the organization of international industries, and a bottom-up view, focusing on economic and social upgrading. The GVC methodology explores five main dimensions (Gereffi & Fernandez-Stark 2011):

- An input-output structure describing the process of transforming raw materials into final products;
- 2. A geographical consideration;
- 3. A governance structure explaining how the value chain is controlled;
- 4. An institutional context in which the value chain is embedded; and
- 5. Upgrading, i.e., moving along the value chain.

The last element has been added as a result of the upgrading perspective of the other four. The term upgrading is referred to as the shifts between different stages of the value chain. Economic upgrading is defined as 'firms, countries or regions moving to higher value activities in the chain to increase the benefits from participating in global production' (Gereffi & Fernandez-Stark, 2011). Different mixes of government policies, institutions, corporate strategies, technologies, and worker skills are associated with upgrading success. The GVC framework uses four types of upgrading (Humphrey & Schmitz, 2002):

- 1. Process upgrading, which transforms inputs into outputs more efficiently by reorganizing the production system or introducing superior technology;
- 2. Product upgrading, or moving into more sophisticated product lines;
- 3. Functional upgrading, which entails acquiring new functions (or abandoning existing functions) to increase the overall skill content of the activities; and
- 4. Chain or inter-sectorial upgrading, where firms move into new but often related industries.

The concepts of economic and social upgrading are important factors within GVCs because they contribute to more sustainable growth and development. Economic upgrading stimulates innovation and competitiveness among firms and social upgrading promotes employment based on better working conditions and fair wages.

4.2.2 The Global Value Chains in Apparels

The apparel sector is particularly suited for GVC analyses because most products can be traded at each part of the chain (Staritz, 2012). A figure of the apparel supply and value chain is available in the appendix. The apparel and textile GVC can roughly be divided into five stages (Gereffi, 2002):

- 1. Raw material supply, including natural (e.g. cotton and wool) and synthetic manmade fibres (e.g. polyester, nylon and acrylic);
- 2. Yarn and fabric production and finishing (textile sector);
- 3. Apparel production;
- 4. Export channels established by trade intermediaries; and
- 5. Marketing networks at the retail level.

A figure of the apparel value chain is in the appendix. The fibres are first produced from raw materials such as cotton, wool, silk, flax and chemicals before they are spun into yarn, which is used to produce woven or knitted fabric. The fabrics are then finished, dyed or printed and cut into pieces to produce apparel, home furnishings and industrial and technical textile

products for the consumers. The apparel industry is an important user of textile products that are sewed to make final apparel articles. In addition to the tangible, production-related steps, there is also a series of intangible activities that add value to apparel products. They include product development, design, logistics, distribution and branding. Each of the five segments in the apparel commodity chain includes different factors such as geographical location, labour skills and conditions, technology and type of enterprises (Gereffi, 2002). These features also affect the distribution of power and profits throughout the commodity chain. The apparel commodity chain is a buyer-driven chain, which is characterized by highly competitive and globally decentralized factory structures with low entry barriers in production. The activities are controlled by a combination of leading firms, intermediaries and supplier firms. One of the major hypotheses of the GVC approach is that development requires linking up with the most significant "lead firms" in an industry (Gereffi, 2002), hence most GVC analysis are examined at the firm level.

4.2.3 The parsimonious approach

This analysis will take another approach, i.e., a bottom-up perspective that focus on economic and social upgrading instead on the lead firms. It will focus on how a selection of developing Asian countries has performed in the global apparel industry in the last 20 years, especially after the MFA quota phase out and during China's economic growth with respect to economic, social and product upgrading. Adopting a limited method of the apparel commodity chain framework, the parsimonious approach, introduced by Bernhardt (2013), the terms economic and social upgrading can be described as follows. A country's apparel sector is alleged to experience economic upgrading when the following two conditions are fulfilled: (1) there is an increase (or at least no decrease) in its world export market share, reflecting international competitiveness of its exports; and (2) there is an increase (or at least no decrease) in the export unit value, implying the production of higher-value products. Social upgrading, by contrast, is said to occur in a given country's apparel sector when the two following conditions are fulfilled: (1) there is an increase (or at least no decrease) in sectorial employment, and (2) there is an increase in sectorial real wages.

To take Bernhardt's (2013) analysis a step further, a deeper research on apparel products is conducted to detect product upgrading. To simplify the term product upgrading in a way Bernhardt (2013) did for economic and social upgrading, product upgrading can be obtained

when there is a move to other products with a higher price, or the price of a product is higher or has increased more than the like product in other countries.

The progress of the two indicators for economic upgrading can be interpreted to reflect the categories of product and functional upgrading from the GVC framework mentioned above. It is essential to look at both export market share and export values as they express complementary information to capture economic upgrading. Moreover, it is important to include the indicators over time to capture the dynamic nature of upgrading as a process. The indicators for social upgrading are included to capture the creation of jobs to employ a higher share of the population, reflecting the potential for the workers to move out of poverty and increase living standards. Real wages are a measure of how much workers benefit from the value created by economic activity in their country's apparel sector.

The parsimonious approach uses export unit values to calculate and identify economic upgrading. This analysis uses annual export values in the apparel sector, HS 61 and HS 62 in the UN Comtrade database and sub-categories of these. To detect product upgrading, it is important to distinguish between the products at a more disaggregated level i.e., the 6-digit level. When calculating commodity prices by dividing export values over the quantity or volume of a certain commodity, the prices might be an indicator for the products quality, and are used to determine product upgrading or downgrading. For a like product coming from different countries, the ones with higher prices are often of relatively higher quality (Li & Song, 2011). Comparing export and price values from the Asian competitors with China's values, one can identify how these countries have performed in comparison to China and detect potential economic and product upgrading. An important issue is also to explain possible reasons for upgrading (or downgrading), regarding policy measures such as multilateral, bilateral and unilateral agreements and government policies.

This analysis takes a quantitative approach and relies entirely on secondary data. It is based on a narrow set of indicators, such as export values, export market shares, prices, wages and employment, to trace upgrading trajectories of a selected range of developing Asian countries, and to examine how and why these have performed in the apparel commodity chain as China has become the lead country of the global industry. To investigate whether the countries have increased apparel export since 1993, global export values in HS-61 and HS-62 are analysed at that time. Examining these values and sub-sector export values at the 6-digit level, one can

37

also detect whether the countries have increased their market shares in the apparel GVC. These products are sub-categorized down to a 6-digit level in the UN Comtrade database, and are used to analyse product upgrading in the apparel value chain. To detect product upgrading, the types of commodities, in substances such as raw materials and fabric, are compared during the period of study and by calculating price developments in each country. As mentioned, higher prices of a like commodity often reflects higher quality, thus the price calculations are used to detect quality increase within each country and quality differences between the countries. It is important to be aware that price variances may reflect other factors than quality differences. First, exporters can price diverse their exports to the importing countries' ability to pay. Second, the composition within a product category varies across the exporters, and differences may also include production costs and transportation costs. The prices are calculated by dividing trade value over trade quantity, and can only be derived at the HS-6 digit level where trade quantity values are available. Li and Song (2011) support this price calculation as a measure for quality.

Social upgrading is not the main issue for this analysis, but is included because price competition in the apparel industry are mainly driven by low-wage advantage resulting in harsh working conditions for the sweatshop workers. The apparel industry is also highly important for the developing countries in terms of employment and its share of foreign capital earnings. Due to a lack of statistical data for the social upgrading indicators, and especially employment, data are mostly collected from other studies and included in this thesis as a supplement to the economic and product upgrading analyses. Social upgrading is detected by looking at the number of workers in the apparel industry and wage increases during the period of the study.

This thesis will use the three trajectories, economic factors, product differences and social factors, to identify if Bangladesh, Cambodia, China, India, Indonesia or Vietnam have experienced upgrading in the apparel sector. This is examined by collecting and analysing data on export values, export market shares, export unit values, prices, wages and employment. The years covered are a 20-year period from 1993 to 2012, with special emphasis on the years during and after the MFA quota phase out and the global financial crisis. Under the assumption

that China has experienced upgrading, the upgrading indicators are used to detect whether and how the other countries have performed compared with China.

Chapter 5: Results

This section presents the results and findings from the parsimonious approach of the GVC analysis. First are the results for economic upgrading, followed by product- and social upgrading.

5.1 Economic upgrading

To succeed in economic upgrading, both the export values and market shares should increase over time. In table 5.1, these values are presented from 1993 to 2012, with average values for the periods pre- and post-MFA.

| Year | China | а | Banglad | esh | Cambo | dia | India | a | Indone | esia | Vietna | am |
|------------|---------|--------|---------|---------|------------|--------|------------|----------|-------------|-------|--------|-------|
| | | | (Values | in mill | ion \$USD, | percen | tage of wo | orld sha | are in brac | kets) | | |
| 1993 | 16 574 | (12,9) | 1 306 | (1,0) | - | | 2 586 | (2,0) | 3 391 | (2,6) | - | |
| 1994 | 21 341 | (15,2) | 1 477 | (1,0) | - | | 3 282 | (2,3) | 3 078 | (2,2) | - | |
| 1995 | 21 282 | (13,4) | 1 969 | (1,2) | - | | 3 665 | (2,3) | 3 242 | (2,0) | - | |
| 1996 | 22 197 | (13,4) | 2 218 | (1,3) | - | | 3 753 | (2,3) | 3 454 | (2,1) | - | |
| 1997 | 28 642 | (16,1) | 2 688 | (1,5) | - | | 3 879 | (2,2) | 2 785 | (1,6) | - | |
| 1998 | 27 110 | (14,6) | 3 784 | (2,0) | - | | 4 365 | (2,3) | 2 518 | (1,4) | - | |
| 1999 | 27 327 | (14,8) | - | | - | | 4 795 | (2,6) | 3 735 | (2,0) | - | |
| 2000 | 32 290 | (16,3) | 4 120 | (2,1) | 963 | (0,5) | 5 465 | (2,8) | 4 562 | (2,3) | 1 789 | (0,9) |
| 2001 | 32 408 | (16,7) | 4 039 | (2,1) | 1 1 3 0 | (0,6) | 5 044 | (2,6) | 4 345 | (2,2) | 1 820 | (0,9) |
| 2002 | 36 566 | (17,9) | 4 057 | (2,0) | 1 303 | (0,6) | 5 499 | (2,7) | 3 805 | (1,9) | 2 562 | (1,3) |
| 2003 | 45 757 | (19,6) | 5 041 | (2,2) | 1 593 | (0,7) | 5 916 | (2,5) | 3 982 | (1,7) | 3 386 | (1,5) |
| 2004 | 54 783 | (21,1) | 6 231 | (2,4) | 1973 | (0,8) | 6 415 | (2,5) | 4 290 | (1,7) | 4 136 | (1,6) |
| 2005 | 65 902 | (23,7) | 6 846 | (2,5) | 2 202 | (0,8) | 8 201 | (3,0) | 4 900 | (1,8) | 4 558 | (1,6) |
| 2006 | 88 621 | (28,7) | 8 252 | (2,7) | 2 634 | (0,9) | 9 015 | (2,9) | 5 534 | (1,8) | 5 417 | (1,8) |
| 2007 | 108 881 | (31,4) | 9 323 | (2,7) | 2 657 | (0,8) | 9 373 | (2,7) | 5 631 | (1,6) | 7 204 | (2,1) |
| 2008 | 113 368 | (31,2) | 11 877 | (3,3) | 3 008 | (0,8) | 10 265 | (2,8) | 6 016 | (1,7) | 8 500 | (2,3) |
| 2009 | 100 479 | (31,8) | 11 892 | (3,8) | 2 436 | (0,8) | 11 312 | (3,6) | 5 661 | (1,8) | 8 329 | (2,6) |
| 2010 | 121 072 | (34,3) | 14 855 | (4,2) | 3 033 | (0,9) | 10 604 | (3,0) | 6 501 | (1,8) | 10 119 | (2,9) |
| 2011 | 143 238 | (34,4) | 19 214 | (4,6) | 3 983 | (1,0) | 13 745 | (3,3) | 7 691 | (1,8) | 12 820 | (3,1) |
| 2012 | 148 270 | (35,1) | 19 788 | (4,7) | 4 278 | (1,0) | 12 896 | (3,1) | 7 184 | (1,7) | 14 079 | (3,3) |
| Percentage | change | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1993-2004 | 231 % | 64 % | 377 % | 137 % | - | - | 148 % | 23 % | 27 % | -37 % | - | - |
| Yearly | 11 % | 5% | 15 % | 8% | - | - | 9% | 2 % | 2 % | -4 % | - | - |
| 2000-2004 | 70 % | 29 % | 51 % | 15 % | 105 % | 56 % | 17 % | -11 % | -6 % | -28 % | 131 % | 76 % |
| Yearly | 14 % | 7% | 11 % | 4% | 20 % | 12 % | 4 % | -3% | -2 % | -8% | 23 % | 15 % |
| 2004-2012 | 171 % | 66 % | 218 % | 95 % | 117 % | 33 % | 101 % | 24 % | 67 % | 3% | 240 % | 109 % |
| Yearly | 13 % | 7% | 16 % | 9% | 10 % | 4% | 9% | 3% | 7 % | 0% | 17 % | 10 % |
| 2000-2012 | 359 % | 173 % | 380 % | 125 % | 344 % | 108 % | 136 % | 10 % | 57 % | -26 % | 687 % | 268 % |
| Yearly | 14 % | 7% | 14 % | 7% | 13 % | 6% | 7 % | 1% | 4% | -3% | 19 % | 11 % |
| 1993-2012 | 795 % | 115 % | 1416 % | 362 % | - | - | 399 % | 52 % | 112 % | -35 % | - | |
| Yearly | 12 % | 5% | 15 % | 8% | - | - | 9% | 2 % | 4% | -2 % | - | - |

Table 5.1: Apparel export and world market shares, 1993-2012

Sources: UN Comtrade, 2014; Bangladesh after 2007: BGMEA, 2014a; World: WTO, 2014b.

China had a yearly growth on apparel exports of 12 percent per year from 1993-2012, and experienced a positive development (i.e. increased values) in 16 of the 19 examined years. The market share of world total apparel exports increased from 13 percent in 1993 to 35 percent in 2012, which is a yearly growth of 5 percent per year. Only three of the 19 years had a drop in world market share. The impact of the MFA quota phase out is not that visible, as the growth of export values increased more from 2000 to 2004 than after 2004. From 1993, Chinese apparel exports grew by 11 percent before the final stage of quota removal and 13 percent after 2004. The increase in world market share has been around 7 percent since 2000. Bangladesh had a strong growth after 2004, at 16 percent per year; still, the growth before the quota phase out was large as well, counting 15 percent per year since 1993. In the last years of the quota, from 2000 to 2004, Bangladesh had a slower growth than the rest of the studied period, with a growth at 11 percent per year. Capturing new market shares also improved after 2004 and Bangladesh gained 9 percent more of the world market per year since then. Export values of Bangladeshi apparel products increased 17 of the 19 years, and market share increased in 16 of the years.

Cambodia increased its apparel exports from 2000 to 2004 by 20 percent per year. After the removal of quota restrictions, the growth slowed and valued 10 percent per year from 2004 to 2012. Cambodia's market share increased to 12 percent up to 2004, after that the gains were still growing, but diminishing. The export values give the impression that beside Bangladesh, India and Indonesia are the countries that gained most from the import quota removal. They all performed better after 2004 than before. Like Bangladesh, India performed worse between 2000 and 2004, when the average yearly increase in export values were 4 percent and its market share dropped 3 percent per year. Then from 1993 to 2004, the growth in export value was 9 percent and 2 percent in gaining market share. From 2004, the increase in apparel exports was 9 percent per year, and market share increased yearly by 3 percent. The country with the weakest performance among the country sample was Indonesia, which had a decrease in world market share. From 1993 to 2012, Indonesia lost 35 percent of its cut of the market. The worst period was from 2000 to 2004, when export values decreased by 6 percent and marked share decreased by 28 percent. Indonesia experienced several events that had negative effect on the apparel sector these years. First, the country was specially affected by the Asian Financial Crisis in 1997; there was the terrorist bombs in 2002 and the tsunami in 2004. After these events, in the post-MFA quota period, Indonesia managed to keep its market share at around 1.75 percent of the world market.

Between 2000 and 2012, when data for all countries are available and can be compared, Vietnam had the strongest growth in apparel export value at 687 percent. The greatest period was before 2004, when export value increased by 23 percent per year. Vietnam was also the best country to capture new markets, and the market share rose by 11 percent per year between 2000 and 2012 to claim about 3% of the share of world exports. One explanation for Vietnam's strong growth is that the nation's manufacturing and exporting capabilities are attracting importers as well as apparel producers that are moving their production from other countries to Vietnam. This occurs despite that wages in Vietnam are higher than in some of the regional countries (Thomasson, 2011).

Economic upgrading factors have been present for all sample countries; however, both export values and market shares must increase over time. Depending on where one should draw the line, regarding how many years the countries experienced a drop in one of the factors, Indonesia is the only country standing out with a decline in market share between 1993 and 2012. All remaining countries had an upward trend in both apparel export values and market shares throughout the period.

The two events that had the greatest effect on apparel exports during the period, namely the end of MFA quotas and the global financial crisis are evident for all countries. Although it was expected that only China and India would benefit from the removal of quota restrictions, all countries increased their export values in 2005 and the three following years up to the financial crisis. When the crisis hit the apparel sector in 2009, because of lower demand from Western markets, the export value from China, Cambodia, Indonesia and Vietnam fell. India experienced the effects from the crisis in 2010, while Bangladesh appears to be the only country that did not suffer a decline in exports because of the economic downturn.

5.2 Product upgrading

To examine product upgrading in the global apparel value chain, commodities at the HS-6 digit level are analysed to look at differences from 1993 until 2012, regarding changes in exported products. To observe product differences, prices are the easiest observable factor and can only be examined at the HS-4 digit or HS-6 digit level because the exported trade quantities

are only given at these levels and not at the HS-2 digit level. The top exported commodities from each country in 1993 or 2000 and 2012 are presented first, and further research on whether there has been a product upgrading comes next.

5.2.1 Export baskets

Table 5.2 show the top exported products in 1993 (2000 for Cambodia and Vietnam) and 2012. For most exporters, the commodities among the top five in 1993 or 2000 are no longer among the top five in 2012. For China, none of the top five in 1993 are still among the top five in 2012. While four of the top five in 2012 were products made of cotton, only two of the top five in 1993 were made of this fabric, and the other products were made of silk, wool or animal hair, or other textile materials. This suggests a product upgrading in terms of fabric. Except Cambodia, all countries export more products made of cotton in 2012 than before, and particularly India where all top products are made of cotton. China and India are the largest and second largest cotton producers in the world (Project Cotton 2014); thus, they have an advantage from a large supply of raw materials. China's most exported commodity in 2012, HS-611030 – Pullovers, cardigans etc., are made of manmade fibres - which have increased in importance after the global financial crisis in 2008 when retailers were looking to cut costs as cotton prices were rising (*Wall Street Journal*, 2014). These fibres were first used in cheap discount apparels, but now it is more common in all kinds of garments.

China's apparel exports consisted of 70 percent woven products and 30 percent knitted products in 1993, however the knitted apparels have become more important and accounted for 59 percent in 2012. The top exported commodities in the two years highlights this change, where three of the five in 1993 are woven products, while only one of five products in 2012 are woven. The trend that knitted products are becoming more important coincides for all countries, and in 2012, the exports from Bangladesh, Indonesia and Vietnam consisted of nearly half-and-half of knitted and woven fabrics. In 1993, knitted products consisted of 17- and 34 percent of exports from Bangladesh and Indonesia, respectively. Vietnam had only woven products among the top five in 2000, when the knitted share counted 14 percent. By 2012, the top three items were knitted wares. Cambodia's exports stands out from the others because 87 percent of its apparel exports in 2000 were knitted products and the share rose to 95 percent in 2012. The growth of knitted products was particularly prompted by preferential market access to the EU (Staritz and Frederick, 2012).

| 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 924 1993 3 620610 Women's blowses & shirts Woven cotton 788 1 611000 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted wool or hair 691 2 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted mamade fibres 997 2 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted mamade fibres 997 2 61042 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 7439 3 620550 Men's shirts Woven other materials 117 2 620199 Men's shirts Woven other materials 117 2 620199 Men's shirts Woven other materials 117 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 4430 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 77 3 610900 T-shirts, singlets, vests Woven cotton 4200 2 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1200 | Exporter | Year | Rank | Commodity | Description | Fabric | Export value Million SUSD |
|---|------------|----------|---------|-----------|-----------------------------|-------------------------|------------------------------|
| 2 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 798 2 620540 Women's blouses & shirts Woven other materials 556 2 620590 Men's shirts Woven other materials 556 1 611030 Pullovers, ardigans etc Knitted wool or hair 691 2 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven other materials 997 2012 3 620462 Women's incusers & shorts Knitted cotton 7611 2012 620190 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 2 620190 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 2 620190 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven other materials 116 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 7439 2 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1200 2 620452 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted otton 120 | | | 1 | 610910 | T-shirts, singlets, vests | Knitted cotton | 924 |
| 1993 3 620610 Women's blouses & shirts Woven silk 742 China 5 620590 Men's shirts Woven other materials 556 2012 3 620460 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted wool or hair 691 2012 3 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven other materials 597 2012 3 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 771 2012 3 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 7671 2012 3 62050 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 777 5 620630 Women's trousers & shorts Woven other materials 192 6 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 4430 7010 3 611000 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans Knitted other materials 1020 2011 620620 Men's trousers & shorts Knit | | | 2 | 620342 | Men's trousers & shorts | Woven cotton | 798 |
| Align 4 611010 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted wool or hair 691 China 5 620590 Men's shirts Woven other materials 556 2012 3 620462 Women's jackets & blazers Knitted cotton 7671 2012 3 620462 Women's jackets & blazers Knitted cotton 6029 5 610462 Women's jackets & blazers Knitted cotton 4795 2 620190 Men's shirts Woven other materials 1973 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven other materials 1973 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 463 7 620304 Wen's torusers & shorts Woven cotton 3298 2010 3 611090 Jersitrs, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 430 2011 610342 Men's torusers & shorts Woven cotton 1200 2011 611030 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 450 2000 | | 1993 | 3 | 620610 | Women's blouses & shirts | Woven silk | 742 |
| China 5 620590 Men's shirts Woven other materials 556 2012 3 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven other materials 9975 2012 3 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven other materials 9975 2012 3 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven other materials 191 2012 620199 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 2 620199 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 1993 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted ottorn 4430 7 5 620630 Women's trousers & shorts Woven ottorn 1200 2 62042 Men's trousers & shorts Woven ottorn 1200 2 620520 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 1610 2010 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted other materials | | | 4 | 611010 | Pullovers, cardigans etc | Knitted wool or hair | 691 |
| China 1 611030 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted outon 7671 2012 3 62062 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted outon 7671 4 610432 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted outon 7439 5 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted outon 4795 6 60060 Men's shirts Wowen other materials 1913 2 62019 Men's shirts Wowen other materials 175 1993 3 620520 Men's shirts Wowen other materials 175 8angladesh 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted outon 4430 7 620320 Men's trousers & shorts Wowen cotton 3298 2010 2 620320 Men's trousers & shorts Wowen cotton 1205 2011 3 611090 Jersey, pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted other materials 155 2010 2 610342 Wen's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 161 | | | 5 | 620590 | Men's shirts | Woven other materials | 556 |
| 2012 2 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 7671 2012 3 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Wowen cotton 7439 5 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 6029 5 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 4795 1 620590 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 3 620520 Men's anoraks etc. Woven cotton 174 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 77 8angladesh 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 328 7 620630 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 328 1011 4 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1025 2011 2 610302 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 1025 2010 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 36120 | China | | 1 | 611030 | Pullovers, cardigans etc | Knitted manmade fibres | 9 975 |
| 2012 3 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 7 439 4 610402 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 602 5 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 4795 1 620590 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 2 620190 Men's shirts Woven other materials 175 Bangladesh 5 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 774 7 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 4430 7 620620 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 3288 2011 2 620320 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1200 21 610910 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans Knitted other materials 1551 2010 2 620520 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1205 2000 3 610202 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 168 2000 | | | 2 | 611020 | Pullovers, cardigans etc | Knitted cotton | 7 671 |
| 4 610432 Women's jackets & blazers Knitted cotton 6 029 5 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 4 795 1 620590 Men's shirts Wowen other materials 191 2 620199 Men's singlets, vests Knitted cotton 174 8 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 44 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 43 7 620630 Women's trousers & shorts Wowen cotton 3288 2011 3 61090 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans Knitted cotton 430 2011 3 611090 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans Knitted cotton 120 2010 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans to trousers & shorts Wowen cotton 120 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 405 2000 3 610204 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 405 2012 3< | | 2012 | 3 | 620462 | Women's trousers & shorts | Woven cotton | 7 439 |
| 5 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 4.795 2 620199 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 2 620199 Men's shirts Woven other materials 175 993 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven otton 174 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 77 5 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 4330 2011 2 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 3298 2011 4 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1200 3 611000 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans Knitted other materials 168 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted otter materials 40 2000 3 61042 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted otter materials 40 2012 3 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted otter materials 51 | | | 4 | 610432 | Women's jackets & blazers | Knitted cotton | 6 0 2 9 |
| 1 620590 Men's shirts Woven other materials 191 2 620199 Men's anoraks etc. Woven other materials 175 1993 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 174 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 77 Bangladesh 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 4430 FV 2010- 2 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 3298 2011 3 611090 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans Knitted cotton 1205 2011 610342 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1205 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 40 2000 3 61042 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 40 2000 3 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 47 2000 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials <td></td> <td></td> <td>5</td> <td>610462</td> <td>Women's trousers & shorts</td> <td>Knitted cotton</td> <td>4 795</td> | | | 5 | 610462 | Women's trousers & shorts | Knitted cotton | 4 795 |
| | | | 1 | 620590 | Men's shirts | Woven other materials | 191 |
| 1993 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 174 Bangladesh 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 76 Bangladesh 5 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 610910 FY 2010- 2011 2 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 3298 FY 2010- 2011 3 611090 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans Knitted other materials 1551 6 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 1025 6 620520 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 168 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans to Knitted cotton 95 2000 3 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 47 2000 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 40 2012 3 610349 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 610469 Women's trou | | | 2 | 620199 | Men's anoraks etc. | Woven other materials | 175 |
| Bangladesh 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 77 Bangladesh 5 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 66 FY 2010- 2011 2 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 3298 FY 2010- 2011 4 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1200 5 620520 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1200 5 620520 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 168 2 610342 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 168 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans Knitted other materials 40 2000 3 610422 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted othor 95 2010 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 40 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 402 2012 3 610510 T-shirts, singl | | 1993 | 3 | 620520 | Men's shirts | Woven cotton | 174 |
| Bangladesh 5 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 66 FY 2010- 2011 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted ottorn 4430 2 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 3298 2011 4 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1200 5 620520 Men's strousers & shorts Woven cotton 1025 2 610342 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 168 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans Knitted cotton 95 4 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 40 2000 3 611030 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted other materials 671 2011 3 610349 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 671 2012 3 610349 Wonen's shirts Knitted ottorn 367 2012 3 610340 Trshirts, singlets, vests Knitted co | | | 4 | 610910 | T-shirts, singlets, vests | Knitted cotton | - 77 |
| Bangladesh 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 4430 FY 2010- 2011 3 611090 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans Knitted cotton 3298 2011 4 620422 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1200 5 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 1200 5 620520 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 168 2 610342 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 105 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 47 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted other materials 40 2011 2 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610349 Men's | | | 5 | 620630 | Women's blouses & shirts | Woven cotton | 66 |
| FY 2010- 2011 2 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Moven cotton 3 298 2011 4 620462 Wome's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1200 5 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 1200 5 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 1025 2 610342 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 168 2 610342 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 168 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted other materials 40 2000 3 611090 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted other materials 40 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 51 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 40 2012 3 610310 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 201 2 620630 Women's thouses & shirts Woven cotton | Bangladesh | | 1 | 610910 | T-shirts singlets vests | Knitted cotton | 4 4 3 0 |
| FY 2010. 2 Cases of the server of the serve | | | 2 | 620342 | Men's trousers & shorts | Woven cotton | 3 298 |
| 2011 3 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1 200 5 620452 Wennen's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 1025 2 610342 Men's shirts Woven cotton 1025 2 610342 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 168 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 95 4 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 40 5 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 40 2012 3 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 400 2 620520 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 40220 2 620640 Women's thouses & shirts Kontted other materials 40220 2 620640 Women's thouses & shirts Kontted other materials 420 <td< td=""><td></td><td>FY 2010-</td><td>2</td><td>611090</td><td>lersevs nullovers cardigans</td><td>Knitted other materials</td><td>1 551</td></td<> | | FY 2010- | 2 | 611090 | lersevs nullovers cardigans | Knitted other materials | 1 551 |
| India 5 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 1205 2000 3 611090 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans Knitted other materials 168 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 95 4 610462 Wenen's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 97 5 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 40 5 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 671 2012 3 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610510 Men's shirts Woven cotton 371 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 371 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 371 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Woven cotton 371 1993 | | 2011 | ر ۲ | 620462 | Women's trousers & shorts | Woven cotton | 1 200 |
| 1 611090 Jerseys, pullovers, cardigans Knitted other materials 168 2 610342 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 105 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted cotton 95 4 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 47 5 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 47 610100 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted other materials 671 2 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 201 2 610490 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 201 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 201 2 610400 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 201 201 620630 Women's thousers Knitted other materials 201 1 620420 Women's thists Knitted cotton < | | | | 620520 | Men's shirts | Woven cotton | 1 025 |
| 2 610342 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 105 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 95 4 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 47 5 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 40 1 610900 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted other materials 671 2 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 402 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 402 2012 3 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 202 2 620630 Women's thusers & work Knitted cotton 367 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Woven cotton 107 1993 3 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 262 1010 2 620630 Women's thuses & shirts Woven cotton 107 | | | 1 | 611090 | lersevs nullovers cardigans | Knitted other materials | 168 |
| 2000 3 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted cotton 95 Cambodia 5 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 47 2 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 47 2 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 671 2 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 671 2 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 671 2 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 402 2 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 201 3 610900 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 220 4 62040 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 317 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Woven cotton 258 2012 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 2014 | | | 2 | 610342 | Men's trousers & shorts | Knitted cotton | 105 |
| Cambodia 4 610462 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted cotton 47 Cambodia 5 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 40 2 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 671 2 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 671 2 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 402 2012 3 61090 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 202 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 220 5 620500 Men's shirts Woven cotton 311 1 62050 Men's shirts Knitted cotton 258 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 825 2012 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 <t< td=""><td></td><td>2000</td><td>2</td><td>611020</td><td>Pullovers cardigans etc</td><td>Knitted cotton</td><td>95</td></t<> | | 2000 | 2 | 611020 | Pullovers cardigans etc | Knitted cotton | 95 |
| Cambodia 5 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 40 Cambodia 1 611090 Pullovers, cardigans etc. Knitted other materials 671 2 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 671 2 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 202 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 220 5 610990 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 220 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 371 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Woven cotton 258 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 1649 2 620640 Women's thousers & shorts Woven cotton 322 <td></td> <td>2000</td> <td>л Л</td> <td>610462</td> <td>Women's trousers & shorts</td> <td>Knitted cotton</td> <td>47</td> | | 2000 | л Л | 610462 | Women's trousers & shorts | Knitted cotton | 47 |
| Cambodia 5 610990 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 671 2 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 671 2 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 202 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 202 5 610990 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 220 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 415 1993 610510 Men's shirts Woven cotton 371 1993 610510 Men's shirts Woven cotton 107 1993 610510 Men's shirts Woven cotton 258 10101 - 5.02640 Women's thouses & shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620640 Women's thouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 2012 3 620640 Women's anorak | | | 5 | 6103/0 | Men's trousers & shorts | Knitted other materials | 40 |
| 1 011030 Functional structure Number of the materials 071 2012 3 610469 Women's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 591 2012 3 610349 Men's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 402 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 220 5 610990 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 220 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 415 2 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 371 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Knitted cotton 258 4 620442 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 107 5 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 252 2012 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 322 2012 3 | Cambodia | | 1 | 611090 | Pullovers cardigans etc | Knitted other materials | 671 |
| 2012 3 610349 Wenie's trousers & shorts Knitted other materials 402 4 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 402 5 610990 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted other materials 220 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 415 2 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 371 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Knitted cotton 258 4 620442 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 107 5 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 1649 2 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 469 2012 3 620630 <td></td> <td></td> <td>1 2</td> <td>610460</td> <td>Women's trousers & shorts</td> <td>Knitted other materials</td> <td>501</td> | | | 1 2 | 610460 | Women's trousers & shorts | Knitted other materials | 501 |
| India Solution Store | | 2012 | 2 | 6103/19 | Men's trousers & shorts | Knitted other materials | 402 |
| 1 61090 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted otton 307 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 415 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 371 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Knitted otton 371 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Knitted cotton 371 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Knitted cotton 258 4 620442 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 107 5 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 2012 3 620630 Women's dresses Woven cotton 822 2012 3 620630 Women's dresses Woven cotton 822 2012 3 62042 Women's dresses Woven cotton 711 5 620342 Men's anoraks etc. Woven manmad | | | 7 | 610910 | T_shirts singlets vests | Knitted other materials | 367 |
| India 1 620520 Hinte, singlets, vests Kinted other materials 220 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 415 2 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 371 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Knitted cotton 258 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 107 5 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 107 2 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 107 2 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 1649 2 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 2 62030 Women's dresses Woven cotton 469 2 620342 Men's anoraks etc. Woven cotton 469 1993 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 139 | | | -+ 5 | 610910 | T-shirts, singlets, vests | Knitted other materials | 220 |
| 1 62020 Mein's shints Woven cotton 415 2 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 371 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Knitted cotton 258 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 107 5 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven manmade fibres 96 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 1649 2 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 822 2012 3 620630 Women's dresses Woven cotton 822 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 469 2012 3 620640 Women's shorts Woven manmade fibres 185 1993 620640 Women's shirts Woven cotton 139 1993 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>620520</td> <td>Mon's shirts</td> <td>Woven cotton</td> <td>/15</td> | | | | 620520 | Mon's shirts | Woven cotton | /15 |
| 1993 3 610510 Men's shirts Woven cotton 258 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 107 5 620640 Women's dresses Woven cotton 107 2 620520 Wen's shirts Woven cotton 1649 2 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 4 620422 Women's dresses Woven cotton 822 4 620422 Women's dresses Woven cotton 469 5 620342 Men's anoraks etc. Woven manmade fibres 220 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 139 1993 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 139 1993 3 620640 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 139 | | | 1 2 | 620520 | Woman's blousas & shirts | Woven cotton | 271 |
| India 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 107 India 5 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven manmade fibres 96 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 1649 2 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 822 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 822 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 469 5 620342 Men's anoraks etc. Woven manmade fibres 220 2 611030 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted manmade fibres 185 1993 3 620640 Women's shirts Woven cotton 139 5 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 139 1 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted cotton | | 1003 | 2 | 610510 | Mon's chirts | Knitted cotton | 259 |
| India 5 620442 Women's blouses & shirts Woven manmade fibres 96 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 1 649 2 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 711 5 620342 Men's anoraks etc. Woven manmade fibres 220 1 620193 Men's shirts Woven cotton 139 1993 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 139 1 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted cotton 528 | | 1555 | ے ۲ | 620442 | Womon's drossos | Woven cotton | 258 |
| India 3 620040 Women's blouses & shirts Woven manified ribes 30 1 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 1649 2 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 822 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 469 5 620342 Men's anoraks etc. Woven manmade fibres 220 2 611030 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted manmade fibres 185 1993 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven manmade fibres 141 4 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 139 1 61020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted cotton 141 4 620520 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 114 2 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 528 | | | 4 5 | 620442 | Women's blouses & shirts | Woven collon | 107 |
| 1 010510 1431113, singlets, vests Ninted cotton 1045 2 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 825 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 711 5 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 469 1 620193 Men's anoraks etc. Woven manmade fibres 220 2 611030 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted manmade fibres 185 1993 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 139 1993 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 139 1993 5 620342 Men's shirts Woven cotton 139 5 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 141 4 620520 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 114 1 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted cotton 528 2 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests | India | | | 610910 | T-shirts singlets vests | Knitted cotton | 1 640 |
| 2012 3 620320 Men's shirts Woven cotton 822 2012 3 620630 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 822 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 711 5 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 469 1 620193 Men's anoraks etc. Woven manmade fibres 220 2 611030 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted manmade fibres 185 1993 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 139 4 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 139 5 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 139 1 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted cotton 528 2 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 409 2012 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 369 4 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 325 2012 3 620520 Men's shirts | | | 1 2 | 620520 | Mon's chirts | Woven cotton | 1 049 825 |
| 2012 3 020030 Women's biouses & sinits Woven cotton 322 4 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 711 5 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 469 1 620193 Men's anoraks etc. Woven manmade fibres 220 2 611030 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted manmade fibres 185 1993 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 139 4 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 139 5 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 139 1 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted cotton 528 2 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 509 2012 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 369 4 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 325 2012 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton | | 2012 | 2 | 620520 | Woman's blousas & shirts | Woven cotton | 825 |
| 1 5 620442 Women's dresses Woven cotton 469 5 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 469 1 620193 Men's anoraks etc. Woven manmade fibres 220 2 611030 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted manmade fibres 185 1993 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven cotton 139 1 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 139 5 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 139 1 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted cotton 114 1 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted cotton 528 2 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 409 2012 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 369 4 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 325 5 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton <td< td=""><td></td><td>2012</td><td>Л</td><td>620030</td><td>Women's drosses</td><td>Woven cotton</td><td>022 711</td></td<> | | 2012 | Л | 620030 | Women's drosses | Woven cotton | 022 711 |
| Indonesia 1 620542 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 409 1 620193 Men's anoraks etc. Woven manmade fibres 220 2 611030 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted manmade fibres 185 1993 3 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven manmade fibres 141 4 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 139 5 620342 Men's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 114 1 611020 Pullovers, cardigans etc Knitted cotton 528 2 610910 T-shirts, singlets, vests Knitted cotton 409 2012 3 620520 Men's shirts Woven cotton 369 4 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 325 | | | 4 5 | 620442 | Mon's trausars & shorts | Woven cotton | /11 |
| 1020193Men's anoras etc.Woven maninade indres2202611030Pullovers, cardigans etc.Knitted manmade fibres18519933620640Women's blouses & shirtsWoven manmade fibres1414620520Men's shirtsWoven cotton1395620342Men's trousers & shortsWoven cotton1141611020Pullovers, cardigans etcKnitted cotton5282610910T-shirts, singlets, vestsKnitted cotton40920123620520Men's shirtsWoven cotton3694620462Women's trousers & shortsWoven cotton325 | | | 1 | 620342 | Mon's aporaks ato | Woven collon | 409 |
| 19933620640Women's blouses & shirtsWoven manmade fibres1414620520Men's shirtsWoven cotton1395620342Men's trousers & shortsWoven cotton1141611020Pullovers, cardigans etcKnitted cotton5282610910T-shirts, singlets, vestsKnitted cotton50920123620520Men's shirtsWoven cotton3694620462Women's trousers & shortsWoven cotton325 | | | 1 | 620195 | Nell's alloraks etc. | Voven manmade fibres | 220 |
| 19933620640Women's blouses & shirtsWoven manified ribres1414620520Men's shirtsWoven cotton1395620342Men's trousers & shortsWoven cotton1141611020Pullovers, cardigans etcKnitted cotton5282610910T-shirts, singlets, vestsKnitted cotton40920123620520Men's shirtsWoven cotton3694620462Women's trousers & shortsWoven cotton325 | | 1002 | 2 | 611030 | Pullovers, carugalis etc | Mayon monmode fibres | 105 |
| Indonesia5620320Men's shirtsWoven cotton1391611020Pullovers, cardigans etcKnitted cotton5282610910T-shirts, singlets, vestsKnitted cotton40920123620520Men's shirtsWoven cotton3694620462Women's trousers & shortsWoven cotton325 | | 1995 | 3 | 620640 | Monie chinte | Woven manmade libres | 141 |
| Indonesia5620342Men's trousers & shortsWoven cotton1141611020Pullovers, cardigans etcKnitted cotton5282610910T-shirts, singlets, vestsKnitted cotton40920123620520Men's shirtsWoven cotton3694620462Women's trousers & shortsWoven cotton325 | | | 4 | 620520 | Men's travears & charts | Woven cotton | 139 |
| 1611020Punovers, cardigans etc.Knitted cotton5282610910T-shirts, singlets, vestsKnitted cotton40920123620520Men's shirtsWoven cotton3694620462Women's trousers & shortsWoven cotton325 | Indonesia | | 5 | 611020 | Dullovere cordinance etc | VVOVEN COLLON | 114 |
| 25109101-stillts, singlets, vestsKnitted cotton40920123620520Men's shirtsWoven cotton3694620462Women's trousers & shortsWoven cotton325 | | | 1 ว | 610010 | T chirte cinglate waste | Knitted cotton | 528 |
| 4 620462 Women's trousers & shorts Woven cotton 325 | | 2012 | 2 | 010310 | I-SHILLS, SHIBIELS, VESLS | Moven setten | 409 |
| 4 b204b2 women's trousers & shorts woven cotton 325 | | 2012 | 5 | 620320 | Waman's trausars 9 shouts | | 205 |
| 5 620640 Women's blouses & shirts Woven manmade tibres 201 | | | 4 5 | 620402 | Women's hlouses & shorts | Woven manmade fibres | 525 201 |

Table 5.2: Top exported product groups, 1993/2000 and 2012

| | | 1 | 620343 | Men's trousers & shorts | Woven synthetic fibres | 248 |
|---------|------|---|--------|---------------------------|---------------------------|-----|
| | | 2 | 620113 | Men's overcoats | , Woven manmade fibres | 169 |
| | 2000 | 3 | 620211 | Women's overcoats etc. | Woven wool or hair | 125 |
| | | 4 | 621149 | Women's other garments | Woven other materials | 125 |
| | | 5 | 620293 | Women's anoraks etc. | Woven manmade fibres | 109 |
| vietnam | | 1 | 611020 | Pullovers, cardigans etc | Knitted cotton | 929 |
| | | 2 | 610910 | T-shirts, singlets, vests | Knitted cotton | 751 |
| | 2012 | 3 | 611030 | Pullovers, cardigans etc | Knitted manmade fibres | 581 |
| | | 4 | 620462 | Women's trousers & shorts | Woven cotton | 498 |
| | | 5 | 620342 | Men's trousers & shorts | Woven cotton | 496 |

Source: UN Comtrade, 2014; Bangladesh FY2010-2011: BGMEA, 2014a

The top five exported commodities in both 2000 and 2012 from Cambodia were all knitted products, and it appears that textile materials other than cotton have become more important for Cambodian apparels. The specialization in knitted products may be due to the difference in investment costs between the knitted and woven sector, where a factory for woven fabric production is about 10 times as expensive as a knit fabric mill (Staritz and Frederick, 2012). In 2012, four of the top five products were made of other materials. Both Cambodia and Vietnam export most of pullovers and sweaters in 2012, though in different fabrics. The importance of pullovers/sweaters for Cambodia and Vietnam, which import most their fabric, is that these products fulfil the criteria for double transformation of the ROO on imports to the EU (Staritz and Frederick, 2012).

Cambodia specializes in a few items, and the top five product categories accounted for 47 percent and 53 percent of total apparel exports in 2000 and 2012, respectively. Only Bangladesh has a higher degree of specialization, where the top five items accounted for 52 percent of total apparel exports in 1993 and 60 percent in 2012. Vietnam, China and Indonesia has a wider spectre of products, and in 2012, their top five products accounted for 23-, 24- and 27 percent respectively. India's top five exported items valued 48 percent of total apparel exports in 1993; however, the concentration was lower in 2012, and the top five items that year accounted for 35 percent.

India still exports mostly woven products, nevertheless the share of knitted wares increased from 29 percent in 1993 to 42 percent in 2012. In the most recent year, the most exported apparel commodity at the 6-digit level was HS-610910 – knitted t-shirts, singlets and vests made of cotton. Cotton products dominate the top five exported commodities in 2012, reflecting India's strong domestic cotton-based textile industry.

Although the share of knitted and woven products has become almost equal in global exports, it differs vastly among the importing countries. Especially from Bangladesh, where exports to the USA and South Africa still consist mostly of woven products with a share of 77 and 53 percent, respectively. The other markets imports more knitted products, where Australia, Brazil and Germany have the largest shares with 69, 67 and 59 percent, respectively. One reason, although only concerning the EU market, was preferential market access for knitted products in that market. Vietnam, by contrast, exports 83 percent of its top commodity, HS-611020 – knitted pullovers, cardigans etc. of cotton, to the US.

5.2.2 Price Scenario

Recalling the terms for product upgrading, it can be obtained when there is a move to other products with a higher price, or the price of a product has increased more than the like product in other countries. Table 5.3 shows the average prices for the periods 1993-2004 and 2005-2012 or the most suitable periods according to the available data for each country. Included are also the average prices for the top five commodities in the periods to highlight the price-level at the time and the increase in price-level between the periods. It is important to be aware that price variances can reflect other factors than quality differences. First, exporters can price diverse their exports to the importing countries' ability to pay. Second, the composition within a product category varies across the exporters, and differences in unit values may reflect these differences rather than quality or price. The price differences may also include production costs and transportation costs.

China appears to focus on cheaper goods in 2012 than in 1993, because products exported in 2012 had a lower average value in both periods examined. This product mix at a lower price level may suggest there has not been a graduation in the value chain. The top product categories in 1993 were men's wear, t-shirts, and silk blouses, while in 2012; the top categories were pullovers and women's clothes. The average prices from 1993-2004 for the top five exported products in 2012 are lower than for four of the top five from 1993. Looking at the average prices from 2005-2012, the most exported products in 2012 still had a lower price than most of the top commodities in 1993, with an average value of US\$ 7.15 for the 1993 commodities and US\$ 4.23 for the 2012 commodities. The price differences may suggest that cotton products are cheaper than silk, animal hair and the other materials that were used in the top 1993 categories.

| | | Тој | p commo | dities 19 | 93 | | Top commodities 2012 | | | | | |
|-------------|--------|--------|---------|-----------|--------|---------|----------------------|--------|--------|--------|--------|---------|
| | | | | | | Chi | na | | | | | |
| Period | 610910 | 620342 | 620610 | 611010 | 620590 | Average | 611030 | 611020 | 620462 | 610432 | 610462 | Average |
| 1993-2004 | 1,22 | 3,22 | 7,57 | 5,36 | 3,59 | 4,19 | 2,71 | 2,48 | 2,68 | 2,19 | 1,50 | 2,31 |
| 2005-2012 | 2,04 | 5,50 | 13,38 | - | 7,66 | 7,15 | 4,43 | 4,34 | 5,08 | 3,75 | 3,57 | 4,23 |
| Change | 67 % | 71 % | 77 % | - | 113 % | 71 % | 64 % | 75 % | 90 % | 71 % | 137 % | 83 % |
| | | | | | | Bangla | adesh | | | | | |
| | 620590 | 620199 | 620520 | 610910 | 620630 | Average | 610910 | 620342 | 611090 | 620462 | 620520 | Average |
| 1993-2004 | 3,15 | 5,54 | 3,36 | 1,31 | 3,52 | 3,38 | 1,31 | 3,69 | 3,96 | 3,91 | 3,36 | 3,25 |
| 2005-2007 | 3,31 | 9,57 | 3,07 | 1,12 | 3,25 | 4,06 | 1,12 | 2,97 | 3,99 | 3,49 | 3,07 | 2,93 |
| Change | 5 % | 73 % | -9 % | -15 % | -8% | 20 % | -15 % | -19 % | 1% | -11 % | -9% | -10 % |
| FY2010-2011 | 4,02 | - | 4,86 | 1,65 | - | 3,51 | 1,65 | 6,61 | 4,91 | 5,20 | 4,86 | 4,65 |
| Change | 28 % | - | 45 % | 26 % | - | 4 % | 26 % | 79 % | 24 % | 33 % | 45 % | 43 % |
| | | | | | | Camb | odia | | | | | |
| | 611090 | 610342 | 611020 | 610462 | 610349 | Average | 611090 | 610469 | 610349 | 610910 | 610990 | Average |
| 2000-2004 | 6,48 | 3,16 | 5,49 | 3,27 | 3,14 | 4,31 | 6,48 | 3,71 | 3,14 | 2,66 | 3,08 | 3,81 |
| 2005-2012 | 17,36 | 6,58 | 10,50 | 5,59 | 5,68 | 9,14 | 17,36 | 7,79 | 5,68 | 4,60 | 6,84 | 8,45 |
| Change | 168 % | 108 % | 91 % | 71 % | 81 % | 112 % | 168 % | 110 % | 81 % | 73 % | 122 % | 122 % |
| | | | | | | Inc | lia | | | | | |
| | 620520 | 620630 | 610510 | 620442 | 620640 | Average | 610910 | 620520 | 620630 | 620442 | 620342 | Average |
| 1993-2004 | 4,77 | 4,15 | 3,68 | 6,24 | 4,43 | 4,66 | 3,25 | 4,77 | 4,15 | 6,24 | 4,01 | 4,49 |
| 2005-2012 | 7,78 | 5,87 | 5,49 | 7,62 | 6,25 | 6,60 | 3,41 | 7,78 | 5,87 | 7,62 | 8,59 | 6,66 |
| Change | 63 % | 41 % | 49 % | 22 % | 41% | 42 % | 5 % | 63 % | 41 % | 22 % | 114 % | 48 % |
| | | | | | | Indor | nesia | | | | | |
| | 620193 | 611030 | 620640 | 620520 | 620342 | Average | 611020 | 610910 | 620520 | 620462 | 620640 | Average |
| 2000-2004 | 13,97 | 5,66 | 4,45 | 5,35 | 5,12 | 6,91 | 5,49 | 2,66 | 5,35 | 5,11 | 4,45 | 4,61 |
| 2005-2011 | 34,31 | 11,56 | 9,75 | 12,75 | 15,04 | 16,68 | 10,25 | 4,48 | 12,75 | 14,05 | 9,75 | 10,25 |
| Change | 146 % | 104 % | 119 % | 138 % | 194 % | 141 % | 87 % | 68 % | 138 % | 175 % | 119 % | 122 % |
| | | | | | | Viet | nam | | | | | |
| | 620342 | 620113 | 620211 | 621149 | 620293 | Average | 611020 | 610910 | 611030 | 620462 | 620342 | Average |
| 2000-2004 | 5,12 | 12,86 | 35,26 | 50,87 | 13,11 | 23,44 | 5,70 | 2,66 | 5,66 | 5,38 | 5,12 | 4,90 |
| 2005-2011 | 15,04 | 40,66 | 59,87 | 67,65 | 29,65 | 42,57 | 10,25 | 4,48 | 11,56 | 14,05 | 15,04 | 11,08 |
| Change | 194 % | 216 % | 70 % | 33 % | 126 % | 82 % | 80 % | 68 % | 104 % | 161 % | 194 % | 126 % |

Table 5.3: Average commodity prices in \$USD

Source: UN Comtrade 2014; BKMEA, 2011

Unlike China, where all prices increased between the periods, Bangladeshi prices mainly decreased. The most recent available prices for Bangladeshi products are from 2005-2007, and because of inflation, the prices are anticipated to have increased after that. However, the Apparel Export Statistics from FY2010-2011 reports that while its competing countries, like China and Vietnam, have readjusted their prices with the raising input costs, Bangladesh has yet to make any significant changes (BKMEA, 2011). The prices from FY2010-2011 are from the same report, and are an average calculation between exports to the US, the EU and Japan that year, to give an impression on how the prices have evolved after 2007. The prices for the top five products from 1993 increased by 20 percent between the periods, while the 2012 commodities decreased by 10 percent, on average. There is no significant price differences in

the most exported products from Bangladesh in 1993 and 2012, except that the most expensive good, HS-620199 – Men's anoraks etc. is no longer among the top five in 2012. The higher price for this commodity is presumably because of materials that are more expensive are needed to make anoraks than for example t-shirts, and the forsaking of this product is rather an indicator of product downgrading than upgrading.

Cambodia's top exported commodity were the same in 2000 as in 2012, HS-611090 – knitted pullovers etc. of other materials. This product is also the most expensive of the top five products during the 12-year period with an average price in 2005-2012 of US\$ 17.36 per unit. The other products are mainly in the same price range, but the second most expensive product in 2000, HS-611020 knitted pullovers etc. of cotton was replaced by a cheaper product, HS-610910 – knitted cotton t-shirts etc. in 2012, displaying Cambodia's concentration in basic products. The average increase in prices for the top commodities in 2000 was 112 percent and 122 percent for the top commodities in 2012.

Looking at the prices for the different goods exported in 1993/2000 and 2012, India is the only country that managed to export products in 2012 at a higher average price between 2005 and 2012 than the price of the top exported products in 1993. The average price for the 1993-products was US\$ 6.60 in the 2005-2012 period and for the 2012-products, the average price was US\$ 6.66. The other countries moved to lower-priced products, hence possibly products of poorer quality and in this thesis viewed as product downgrading. The prices on Indian apparel products have all increased during the periods and are mostly in the same price range. The top exported goods in 1993 had prices on average in the 2005-2012 period between US\$ 5.49 for knitted men's shirts of cotton, and US\$ 7.78 for woven men's shirts of cotton. The top goods in 2012 had prices from US\$ 3.41 for knitted cotton t-shirts to US\$ 8.59 for woven men's trousers and shorts of cotton, showing that Indian exporters both export cheaper and more expensive products than before, although the export basket still contains mostly woven cotton shirts. The prices rose on average 42 percent for the top-1993 products and 48 percent for the top-2012 commodities. Of all the countries' top exported commodities in 2012, Vietnam had the largest price increase, 126%, between the periods 2000-2004 and 2004-2012.

Indonesia and Vietnam appear to export apparel products of a higher quality than the other countries using prices as a proxy for quality. Indonesian prices for the top exported wares in 2000 ranged from US\$ 9.75/unit to US\$ 34.31/unit, on average, between 2005 and 2011. The

top exported products in 2012 ranged from US\$ 4.48 to US\$ 14.05 in the same period. The increase of the average prices were 141 percent for the top commodities in 2000 and 121 percent for the top-2012 products. Vietnamese exports in 2000 consisted of even more expensive goods than the Indonesian exports. The average price of the exported commodities was US\$ 42.57 in 2005-2011. These products were mostly overcoats and anoraks, which is considered more of a luxury product than for example cotton t-shirts. However, the top exported commodities in 2012 did not consist of any overcoats at all, but of pullovers, t-shirts and trousers mostly made of cotton, and the prices ranged from US\$ 4.48 to US\$ 15.04.

5.2.3 Price comparison between the countries

The other aspect of product upgrading is to look at differences in prices for the same product exported from the selected countries. The HS-6 digit products in figure 5.1 are selected because they appear in several of the top five exported commodities for the countries. The prices for Bangladeshi products are compiled from BKMEA's Apparel Export Statistics for FY2010-2011 and the figures are an average of prices to the US, the EU and Japan. The other values are calculated using export values over export quantity from UN Comtrade.

Figure 5.1 illustrate that Bangladesh offered the cheapest price in seven of the ten products, while China offered the cheapest price in two products and India in one. Overall, Bangladesh seems to operate with the cheapest prices, China second and India third cheapest. The different positions with regard to unit prices can show product upgrading and specialization in products with different unit values, but it can also show declining cost competitiveness (Staritz and Frederick, 2012). Cambodia, Indonesia and Vietnam mainly exported the products for the same price to the world market. Only HS-611090 was exported at a different and lower price from Indonesia. The like prices are higher than for the other countries, and could imply they export apparels with a higher quality than their competitors do. Identical prices for the same good from different export markets are consistent with the law of one price for homogenous goods (*The Global Economy*, 2014).

India's apparel export unit values are higher than from Bangladesh and China, and could be related to India's more sophisticated and higher-value export basket, but the high prices can also be explained by relatively high costs for power, transportation, taxes and labour (Staritz and Frederick, 2012). China and India have longer history of apparel production and exports

than the other countries, implying that production costs are lower and they have an advantage of better infrastructure.



Figure 5.1: Prices to world market, 2011

To identify how the prices have evolved over time, a closer look at two of the most exported commodities are added. One product made of knitted cotton, HS-610910 – t-shirts, singlets and vests, and one made of woven cotton, HS-620462 – Women's trousers and shorts. Table 5.4 show that Cambodia, Indonesia and Vietnam exports the commodities for the same price each year to the world market, which is significantly higher than their competitors' prices. China started with the cheapest price in 1993, but faced competition from Bangladesh in 1997 for HS-610910 and in 2005 for HS-620462. Bangladesh had a lower price on both products in 2007 than in 1993, and the table reveals that the prices increased before 2000, but then fell again, which could be related to China's entry to the WTO in 2001 (Staritz and Frederick, 2012). The continued decline is largely due to the increasing importance of knitted apparel exports, which resulted in falling unit values (Staritz and Frederick, 2012). Unlike Bangladesh, both China and India had a stable and steady increase in prices during the period. So did also

Sources: UN Comtrade 2014 and BKMEA 2011.

Cambodia, India and Vietnam's prices for HS-610910, but for HS-620462, the prices made a big jump in 2007.

| | | | HS-6 | 10910 | | | HS-620462 | | | | | |
|------|-------|---------|----------|-------|-----------|---------|-----------|---------|----------|-------|-----------|---------|
| Year | | Bangla- | | | | | | Bangla- | | | | |
| | China | desh | Cambodia | India | Indonesia | Vietnam | China | desh | Cambodia | India | Indonesia | Vietnam |
| 1993 | 0,78 | 1,27 | - | 2,36 | - | - | 2,49 | 3,97 | - | 3,23 | - | - |
| 1994 | 1,01 | 1,33 | - | 2,86 | - | - | 2,97 | 4,00 | - | 3,52 | - | - |
| 1995 | 1,19 | 1,49 | - | 3,05 | - | - | 2,58 | 4,06 | - | 3,20 | - | - |
| 1996 | 1,28 | 1,49 | - | 3,05 | - | - | 2,37 | 3,80 | - | 3,19 | - | - |
| 1997 | 1,52 | 1,43 | - | 3,77 | - | - | 2,48 | 4,26 | - | 3,53 | - | - |
| 1998 | 1,26 | 1,34 | - | 3,26 | - | - | 2,43 | 4,87 | - | 3,88 | - | - |
| 1999 | 1,19 | - | - | 3,53 | - | - | 2,38 | - | - | 3,70 | - | - |
| 2000 | 1,23 | 1,23 | 2,18 | 3,25 | 2,18 | 2,18 | 2,56 | 4,20 | 4,02 | 4,00 | 4,02 | - |
| 2001 | 1,22 | 0,98 | 2,24 | 3,39 | 2,24 | 2,24 | 2,67 | 3,79 | 4,43 | 4,03 | 4,43 | 4,43 |
| 2002 | 1,21 | 0,91 | 2,50 | 3,30 | 2,50 | 2,50 | 2,85 | 3,26 | 4,68 | 4,62 | 4,68 | 4,68 |
| 2003 | 1,27 | 1,21 | 2,39 | 3,64 | 2,39 | 2,39 | 3,13 | 3,35 | 4,83 | 4,99 | 4,83 | 4,83 |
| 2004 | 1,45 | 1,74 | 3,98 | 3,51 | 3,98 | 3,98 | 3,25 | 3,41 | 7,59 | 5,57 | 7,59 | 7,59 |
| 2005 | 1,53 | 1,14 | 3,98 | 2,90 | 3,98 | 3,98 | 3,63 | 2,60 | 7,59 | 5,04 | 7,59 | 7,59 |
| 2006 | 1,82 | 0,99 | 3,98 | 3,05 | 3,98 | 3,98 | 4,06 | 4,10 | 7,59 | 5,67 | 7,59 | 7,59 |
| 2007 | 2,00 | 1,22 | 3,49 | 3,46 | 3,49 | 3,49 | 4,38 | 3,76 | 13,84 | 5,90 | 13,84 | 13,84 |
| 2008 | 2,04 | - | 4,79 | 3,34 | 4,79 | 4,79 | 5,17 | - | 18,91 | 5,75 | 18,91 | 18,91 |
| 2009 | 1,93 | - | 5,27 | 2,89 | 5,27 | 5,27 | 5,21 | - | 18,62 | 5,68 | 18,62 | 18,62 |
| 2010 | 2,09 | - | 5,01 | 5,01 | 5,01 | 5,01 | 5,32 | - | 15,77 | 15,77 | 15,77 | 15,77 |
| 2011 | 2,44 | 1,65 | 4,81 | 3,54 | 4,81 | 4,81 | 6,37 | 5,20 | 16,04 | 6,52 | 16,04 | 16,04 |
| 2012 | 2,47 | - | 5.45 | 3.11 | - | - | 6.50 | - | 16.36 | 6.40 | - | - |

Table 5.4: Prices in \$USD for HS-610910 and HS-620462, 1993-2012

Source: UN Comtrade 2014.

Cambodia, Indonesia and Vietnam offer the same price to all their export markets. The other countries, however, are price differentiating among the markets. Looking at the most important markets for the three of them, including the US, Japan, Hong Kong and Germany for China; the US, Germany and the UK for Bangladesh and the US, the UK and the UAE for India, they all operate with the most expensive prices to the US. China offer the cheapest price to Hong Kong, while India and Bangladesh ships the cheapest goods to the UK. This may be due to the preferential treatment India and Bangladesh get in the EU through the GSP, and China has a Closer Economic Partnership Agreement (CEPA) with Hong Kong.

A theory contradicting the findings that Cambodia, Indonesia and Vietnam operate with the highest prices, is that the more developed a country is, the higher quality the country's export products tends to be (Henn, et al., 2013). As China has had a remarkable economic development, this theory would suggest that China should export higher quality products than the other countries. The top three commodities exported from China in 2012 are also among the top commodities for some of the other countries; hence, they cannot be viewed as higher

quality products. The latter two of China's top commodities are also low-cost products. In the apparel industry, low production costs and transportation costs are main factors for success, so these factors may be more competitive than the degree of quality, and China still offer the same commodities at a lower price than most of its competitors.

As discussed above, the price differences may have various explanations and one cannot conclude that the price differences in the apparel industry are only a signal of quality differences. However, to the extent of this thesis and available data, these indicators for product upgrading are to some extent sufficient.

5.3 Social upgrading

Social upgrading is measured by factors such as labour and wages. The major advantage for a labour-intensive industry like textiles and apparels is low wages. When the Chinese economy started to accelerate, the labour costs also increased, resulting that labour-intensive products faced higher production costs. Moreover, the wage increase are expected to keep rising, which could harm the country's low-cost manufacturing advantage (Rochan, 2014) and production of these products to be moved to other countries with cheaper labour.

| Country | 1993 | 1998 | 2001 | 2005 | 2008 | 2012 |
|------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| China | 1 180 | 1 960 | 2 570 | 4 090 | 6 200 | 9 040 |
| Indonesia | 1 870 | 2 110 | 2 230 | 2 990 | 3 730 | 4 730 |
| India | 990 | 1 360 | 1 620 | 2 220 | 2 870 | 3 910 |
| Vietnam | 900 | 1 390 | 1 690 | 2 310 | 2 890 | 3 620 |
| Cambodia | - | 760 | 980 | 1 440 | 1 930 | 2 330 |
| Bangladesh | 630 | 790 | 930 | 1 200 | 1 570 | 2 030 |

Table 5.5: Gross National Income in Purchasing Power Parity, current \$USD

Source: World Bank, 2014c.

China's income has grown from US\$ 1,180 in 1993 to US\$ 9,040 in 2012. Of the countries included in this analysis, only wages in Indonesia were higher than China's until 1999, but by 2012, wages in China has become almost twice as high as in Indonesia. Although these values indicate the wage differences in the countries, income for garment factory workers is much lower than average.

5.3.1 Wages in the apparel industry

The Worker Rights Consortium (2013) reported wages and working conditions in 15 of the top 21 countries in terms of apparel exports to the United States in 2012. The study reports that in China, India, Indonesia and Vietnam, real wages for garment workers grew from 2001 to 2011 by an average of 55.2 percent for the whole period or slightly less than 6 percent per year. The wage gains were highest in China, and rose in real terms by 129 percent during that period. The wage increase in India was much more modest than the other three countries, with a yearly increase of 1.3 percent in real wages, or in straight-time wages, Indian garment workers earned US\$ 94 per month in 2011. Vietnam had a significant minimum-wage climb in 2011, but prevailing straight-time wages was only US\$ 111 per month that year. Indonesian garment workers earned US\$ 142 per month.

In Bangladesh and Cambodia, real wages actually decreased between 2001 and 2011, the same paper reports. The minimum wages in Bangladesh increased in 2010, but despite that, real wages fell by 2.37 percent during the 10-year period. In Cambodia, the International Labour Organization has had a project since 2001, called Better Factories Cambodia, to improve working conditions in the country's export garment factories. (ILO, 2008) However, the loss of purchasing power was 19.1 percent from 2001 to 2011, and straight-time wages in 2011 was US\$ 70 per month for garment workers in Cambodia. Bangladesh had the lowest monthly wages of the main apparel exporters at US\$ 50 per month.

According to Wage Indicator (2014), both Cambodia and Bangladesh has a special minimum wage for garment workers. In Bangladesh, the average minimum wage for 2010-2014 was US\$ 68 per month and in Cambodia, a garment worker earned at least US\$ 70 plus a cost of living allowance of US\$ 5. In India, the lowest minimum wage was \$2.18 per day, which is US\$ 65.4 with 30 days of work. Indonesia had the lowest wages sited in West Java, where most of the garment production are located (GBG Indonesia, 2013), and wages are from 850,000 rupiah per month, about US\$ 72.8 (Using the exchange rate for 23 April 2014). According to the Wage Indicator, China's lowest wages are RMB 830 in the poorest areas, which equals US\$ 133 per month. Without perfect coinciding data and lack of thereof, the data presented above are summarized in table 5.6 to give a picture of the wages in the apparel sector.

| | Worker Rights Co | onsortium | Wage Indicator | Berhardt (2013) | | | | | | |
|------------|------------------|--------------|----------------|-----------------|------------------|-----------|-----------|--|--|--|
| Country | Wage per month | Increase | Wage per month | Annual wages, | osts in brackets | Increase | | | | |
| | 2011 | 2001-2011 | 2010-2014 | 2000 | 2004/2005 | 2008/2009 | 2000-2009 | | | |
| China | - | 129 % | 133,00 | - | 1 402,00 | 3 661,00 | 191,46 % | | | |
| Bangladesh | 50,00 | -2,37 % | 68,00 | (0,35) | (0,23) | (0,22) | -43,59 % | | | |
| Cambodia | 70,00 | \checkmark | 75,00 | 753,00 | 705,00 | 834,00 | 10,77 % | | | |
| India | 94,00 | \uparrow | 65,40 | 777,00 | 1 032,00 | 1 642,00 | 111,36 % | | | |
| Indonesia | 142,00 | \uparrow | 72,80 | 752,00 | 1 127,00 | - | 76,85 % | | | |
| Vietnam | 111,00 | \uparrow | - | - | (0,28) | (0,38) | - | | | |

Table 5.6: Wages in the apparel sector

Source: Worker Rights Consortium, 2013; Wage Indicator, 2014.

Included in table 5.6 are also some of Bernhardt's (2013) figures on wages. For Bangladesh and Vietnam, labour costs per hour were used as a proxy for wages, and the other values are annual wages for one of the indicating years. The outcome seems to confirm the other studies; China had the most remarkable increase which nearly tripled its wages from 2000-2009, India and Indonesia are intermediate cases and Vietnam, Cambodia and in particular Bangladesh have the lowest wages for the sweatshop workers.

5.3.2 Employment in the apparel industry

The other indicator for social upgrading is an increase in employment. Data for sectorial employment are not as easy to attain as for the economic and product upgrading indicators either. The statistics available differ to include the informal sector, which is a huge part of apparel employment. An example is India, where 90 percent of total textile and apparel employment are in the informal sector (Frederick & Staritz 2011). Figures of employment can also differ between only the apparel sector and the apparel and textile sector together. Moreover, the time span coverage are not always the same for all countries. For these reasons, employment data in table 5.7 are assembled from a similar analysis conducted by Bernhardt (2013), and the comments are filled with supporting data. The data from his analysis obviously also suffer from lack of available statistics; thus it should be interpreted with some caution.

| Country | 2000 | 2004 | 2005 | 2008 | 2000 | Percentage change | | | |
|------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-------------------|-----------|-----------|--|
| Country | 2000 | | 2005 | 2008 | 2009 | 2000-2004 | 2004-2009 | 2000-2009 | |
| Bangladesh | 1 600 000 | 2 000 000 | 2 000 000 | 2 800 000 | 3 100 000 | 25 % | 55 % | 94 % | |
| Cambodia | 168 824 | 269 846 | 283 906 | 324 871 | 281 855 | 60 % | 4 % | 67 % | |
| China | 2 156 300 | 3 202 600 | 3 460 600 | 4 587 000 | 4 493 100 | 49 % | 40 % | 108 % | |
| India | 329 401 | 447 466 | 538 615 | 622 913 | - | 36 % | 39 % | 89 % | |
| Indonesia | 479 155 | 438 045 | 451 938 | 495 192 | 464 465 | -9 % | 6% | -3 % | |
| Vietnam | 231 948 | 498 226 | 511 278 | 758 274 | - | 115 % | 52 % | 227 % | |

Table 5.7: Employment in the apparel sector, 2000-2009

Source: Bernhardt, 2013.

Although the data in table 5.7 do not include all years intended for this analysis, they cover the two main events affecting the apparel value chain between 1993 and 2012, namely the MFA quota phase out and the global financial crisis. From the table, it is evident that all countries increased its amount of workers during the whole period and in the two sub-periods except Indonesia. The 2000-2004 period demonstrate the time before the MFA quota phase out, and Indonesian apparel exports decreased during that period from US\$ 4.56 billion in 2000 to US\$ 4.23 billion in 2012. One of Bernhardt (2013) findings is that employment goes hand-in-hand with export performance, understandable as declining demand for the products cause lower need for workers. Similar are the effects from the economic crisis that hit apparel exports in 2009. Many workers lost their job due to decreasing demand in western markets, which is presented by a decrease in employment in 2009 in Cambodia, China and Indonesia. Only Bangladesh managed to increase its labour force that year.

Employment statistics in table 5.7 may possibly only cover the formal sector of employment. Supporting the previous example of India, there are 35 million people in India directly or indirectly employed in the apparel and textile industry, which is the second largest employment provider after agriculture, with 18 percent of industrial employment (Pelot, 2008). In the cases of Bangladesh and, in particular, Vietnam, the rapid rates of employment expansion reflect the expanding demand for labour that goes together with the increasing integration of these two countries into international apparel value chains.

Frederick and Staritz (2011) report that employment in the apparel industry between 2004 and 2008 grew by 40 percent in Bangladesh, 20 percent in Cambodia, 48 percent in India and 52 percent in Vietnam. With exception of India, whose employment grew 40 percent according to table 5.7, these values support the data in the table. For the other countries in the same period, China's employment grew 43 percent and Indonesia's grew 13 percent. Preuss (2013) account the labour forces in 2012 to be 4 million in Bangladesh, over 10 million in China and 1.5 million in Vietnam, indicating that employment has rebounded after the crisis in 2009.

Productivity is also a main factor regarding wages and employment. Cambodian apparel workers are less productive than other apparel workers in the region are. By comparison, Cambodian sweatshop workers produce 30 to 40 shirts per hour; Vietnamese workers produce 60 to 70 shirts per hour, while Chinese workers are the most productive, producing 100 to 120 shirts per hour (Thomasson, 2013a). A reason for the low labour productivity in Cambodia is the lack of skills of the workers and the managers. The few training centres are mostly focused on teaching women to sew and reducing injuries rather than improving productivity and upgrading to broader and higher value-added activities (Staritz and Frederick, 2012). Most skilled managers in Cambodia are foreigners, and the transmission of knowledge is a challenge due to language and culture differences (Stariz and Frederick, 2012).

5.4 Overall upgrading?

The apparel industry is highly controlled by developed countries' demand. While orders from the mass market of the US are large and price is the most important factor, orders from the EU are smaller and the demand are of more variation when it comes to quality, fashion and lead times (Lopez-Acevedo and Robertson, 2012). The developing countries in this thesis are competing in the market of low-cost apparels, where prices are the main factor. Low prices are depending on low wages, low transportation costs and high labour productivity, and not necessarily the best quality as this thesis use as an upgrading factor. Other than China, that may follow the upgrading tracks of the NIEs, the sample countries are currently competing in being the cheapest supplier of apparel goods, rather than to upgrade within the apparel value chain.

Bangladesh, Cambodia, India, Indonesia and Vietnam have all had a great advantage of the GSP tariff preferences. Because China is not granted the same tariff reductions, this may be the main reason why the regional countries have managed to compete and increase apparel exports. Yet, China offer higher labour productivity and efficiency than others, which is why prices can stay on the same level or lower than its regional countries, despite their higher wages.

To sum up the upgrading factors, they are collected in a matrix where the results are easier to observe.

| Table 5.8: | Upgrading | conclusions |
|------------|-----------|-------------|
|------------|-----------|-------------|

| Upgrading factor | China | Bangladesh | Cambodia | India | Indonesia | Vietnam |
|------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| Economic | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | × | \checkmark |
| Product | × | × | \checkmark | × | \checkmark | \checkmark |
| Social | \checkmark | × | × | \checkmark | × | × |

Source: Author's conclusions from the findings.

The results show than none of the sample countries have managed to succeed in all three upgrading factors between 1993 and 2012. As Indonesia did not manage to increase its export market share during the whole period, it is not seen as an economic upgrader. The countries that succeeded in product upgrading are the countries with highest prices and highest increase in prices, which was Cambodia, Indonesia and Vietnam. Only China and India had growth in both employment and real wages in the apparel sector, while Bangladesh, Cambodia, Indonesia and Vietnam had increases in employment, but not in real wages. With evidence of harsh working conditions in the sweatshop industry, e.g. factory collapses and employers fainting, there is easy to conclude that social upgrading are not present in these countries.

The terms for product upgrading may not be as important in the low-cost apparel sector as in other sectors, and lower prices could indicate a higher degree of competitiveness rather than poorer quality on products. If economic and social upgrading are viewed as the most important factors, then China and India were the big winners during the period of study, Cambodia and Vietnam second best, Bangladesh third and Indonesia had least success in upgrading in the apparel sector.

Chapter 6: Conclusions

6.1 Concluding comments

This study of the apparel export industry in a sample of Asian developing countries has covered the two main events that the industry has gone through in newer times. That is, the removal of import quotas by the MFA in 2005 and the global financial crisis in 2009. To investigate how regional competing countries have accomplished to compete with China, a parsimonious approach of a GVC analysis was adopted by Bernhardt (2013). The objective was to study whether the countries had succeeded in economic-, product- and/or social upgrading.

While the expectations for apparel trade post the MFA quota phase out was a victory for China and to some extent India, all countries included in this study increased their apparel export values after 2004. China had by far the largest increase in export values in absolute terms with more than US\$ 93 billion since 2004 to 2012, but both Bangladesh and Vietnam had a stronger year-on-year growth than China with 16 percent and 17 percent respectively compared to China's growth at 13 percent. The parsimonious approach describes different conditions that have to be fulfilled to succeed in economic, product and social upgrading. Increasing export values is one of the conditions for economic upgrading, which was accomplished in all countries. The other factor for economic upgrading is growth in export market share. All countries except Indonesia has increased their market shares during the whole period from 1993 or 2000 to 2012 as well as in most of the years seen separately. Indonesia had a decrease in world market share most of the years, and although the share stabilized after 2004, the world frontier was lower in 2012 with 1.7 percent than in 1993 when the share was 2.6 percent. Both conditions must be fulfilled to succeed in economic upgraders.

To succeed in product upgrading regarding the restrains of this thesis, the conditions that have to be fulfilled are a move to higher priced commodities and/or the price of the products is higher or has increased more than like products in the competing countries. The price calculations are a measure for quality, where a higher price means better quality. It appears that all countries except India focused on cheaper products in 2012 than in 1993/2000 according to the analyses of average prices throughout the period for the top five commodities in 1993 and 2012. For all countries' top exported commodities in 2012, Vietnam had the largest price increase between the periods 2000-2004 and 2004-2012. Indonesia had the second largest price increase and Cambodia the third, and these three countries export most of their products at the same prices, so the price increase are the same when comparing the same products. The prices for Cambodian, Indonesian and Vietnamese products are significantly higher than products exported from China, Bangladesh and India, so in the terms for product upgrading, these countries have succeeded most. Prices on products exported from Bangladesh had the worst development. Up to 2007, most commodities were sold at a lower price than in 1993, and in an apparel statistical report from FY2010-2011 it was reported that Bangladesh has not readjusted its prices in response to rising input costs (BKMEA, 2011). On the other hand, if the prices from this report are taken into account, the prices appears to have risen since 2007. It must be included again that the price differences may reflect other aspects than only quality differences. Most likely, the differences are due to production costs and transformation costs or variations in the composition within a product category across the exporters.

The last measure for upgrading in this thesis is social upgrading, which is said to occur with increasing employment and increasing real wages. Labour demand increased in all countries except in Indonesia between 2000 and 2009, and Vietnam had the most rapid rate of employment expansion at 227 percent that period. Indonesian apparel employment decreased prior 2004, but the workers seem to have benefited from the MFA quota phase out, and the work force increased again after 2004. The global financial crisis in 2009 had a large impact on employment in the apparel sector and many workers were laid off.

Low wages are the main competitive advantage in the textile and apparel sector and consequently the wages did not increase considerably from 2001 to 2011. In Cambodia and Bangladesh, real wages actually decreased, and only China and India managed to increase the apparel workers' incomes significantly. Wages in the other countries also increased, but the workers are still too under-paid and the working conditions are too poor to be viewed as social upgrading.

The three factors for upgrading, economic, product and social, all play a great role when explaining the evolvement in the apparel industry. Since apparel is a very labour-intensive business, the competition has been primarily been driven by wage differences among the countries, however, most countries in this analysis also implemented proactive policies specific to the apparel industry. Along with the specifically low wages in these countries, preferential trade agreements played a huge role in the post-MFA period.

The case for niche products was not visible for any of the countries. Cambodia is the country that has specialized the most, exporting almost exclusively knitted items. However, this seems to be the case because the knitted technology is cheaper than the woven technology, and not a certain decision to stand out from the other exporters. All exporting countries in the study export mainly low-cost products and compete in the market with the same apparel wares.

Ultimately, all countries would categorize as upgraders in the global apparel value chain because of the large increases and market shares the countries have accomplished through 1993-2012. This also answers the main research question, whether China is crowding its regional competing countries or if it has become less of a competitor as the country has industrialized. China and India seem to be the winners of this study, but the regional countries have also had remarkable results in the international apparel chain during the period of study. Although China keeps expanding export values and market share, it appears that it is not at the expense of the regional competitors. Further, even with decreasing importance for apparel exports because China's industry has moved to higher value chains, shown by the increasing importance in exports of high-tech products, the country still expands in the apparel industry as well.

6.2 Limitations of the study

The first and most important limitation of the study is that many of the countries' trade quantity values are estimations; hence, the results that showed the same prices from Indonesia, Cambodia and Vietnam could be a result from how UN Comtrade estimated trade quantity instead of the case where the countries actually operate with the same prices.

This study could have been more fulfilling if countries from other parts of the world were included, and not only six of the largest apparel exporters as of 2012. The differences would be seen at a clearer manner if countries that lost market shares and experienced declining export values because of the MFA were examined as well.

Further, more top commodities from the years between 1993/2000 and 2012 should have been included so changes in product specialization would be clearer. It differed vastly among the countries how large part of the export basket was included in the top five exported products. For China's exports in 1993, 22 percent of the total export values were from the top five exported commodities. However, for most countries, the export value for the top five commodities were around half of total export value that year.

Another problem with this study are the availability of data. Cambodia and Vietnam started reporting data to UN Comtrade in 2000 and Bangladesh stopped reporting data in 2007. This has made the comparison of the countries more difficult, however the main events, the MFA quota phase out ending in 2004 and the financial crisis in 2008/2009 were covered for Cambodia and Vietnam, and most useful data for Bangladesh was available in other sources. The lack of data for other commodities than the top exported ones from Bangladesh may have caused skewed selection of analysed products.

A question to be asked concerning the results of the study is why production of apparel products are moved to Cambodia and Vietnam when they operate with a higher price than China, Bangladesh and India. In this study, higher price are used as a measure for quality, but as China and India have longer history and more skilled workers in the apparel value chain, this may not make sense. Many companies say they are moving production out of China to, among others, Vietnam because labour is cheaper (The Economist, 2012). Nevertheless, China's advantages are better productivity and sophisticated supply chains, leading to lower prices despite higher labour costs.

6.3 Suggestions for further research

One suggestion for further research is to take into consideration a larger part of the GVC, where the firm level is included. The interesting part in that case would be to see how many plants or firms that move production to other countries, and study firm size, FDI inflows, and ownerships of the plants.

Another interesting aspect would be to study the post-MFA economic structure and welfare. Changes in the apparel sector may lead to reallocation to other sectors and the study could include multi-sectorial changes in employment and wage opportunities. A more thorough research on how the domestic policies affected the apparel trade in the short and long run could also supplement the current thesis, since it only highlights the different policies, and not examine and compare them to figure which had greatest effects and how they affected the workers.

Moreover, data for wages in the apparel sector are scarce, and a field research in the largest apparel exporting countries with respect to workers' income would add an important aspect in the apparel value chain.

Further research could also include a larger country sample and more commodities. If all commodities at the 6-digit level were analysed, one could find the overall average prices for the countries. This thesis only used top five commodities in two years as a sample for the whole range of commodities, and the price differences among the countries would be more valid and descriptive if more commodities were added.

Bibliography

ARIC, 2014. *Asia Regional Integration Center*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://aric.adb.org/fta-country</u> [Accessed 20 May 2014].

ASEAN, 2014a. Association of Southeast Asian Nations. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.asean.org/asean/about-asean</u> [Accessed 15 March 2014].

ASEAN, 2014b. Association of Southeast Asian Nations. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.asean.org/communities/asean-economic-community/category/free-trade-agreements-with-dialogue-partners</u> [Accessed 15 March 2014].

Athukorala, P.-C., 2009. The Rise of China and East Asian Export Performance: Is the Crowding-Out Fear Warranted?. *The World Economy, Vol. 32, No. 2*, 16 February, pp. 234-266.

Barbarosa, D. & Meller, P., 2005. *New York Times.* [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2005/06/11/business/worldbusiness/11textile.html?_r=0</u> [Accessed 29 April 2014].

Bernhardt, T., 2013. *Developing countries in the global apparel value chain: a tale of upgrading and downgrading experiences,* New York: Capturing the Gains, Working Paper 22.

BGMEA, 2014b. *Bangladesh Garment Manufacturers and Exporters Association*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.bgmea.com.bd/home/pages/Strengths</u> [Accessed 2 March 2014].

BKMEA, 2011. Bangladesh Knitwear Manufacturers and Exporters Association. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.bkmea.com/images/media/iART-pdf/Apparel_Export_Statistics_2011-12.pdf</u>

[Accessed 2014].

Brambilla, I., Khandelwal, A. & Schott, P., 2007. *China's Experience Under the Multifiber Arrangement (MFA) and the Agreement on Textiles and Clothing (ATC),* Massachussets: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Chow, G. C., 2003. *The impact of joining WTO on China's economic, legal and political institutions,* Princeton: Princeton University.

Devonshire-Ellis, C., 2014. *China Briefing*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.china-briefing.com/news/2014/02/10/understanding-chinas-free-trade-agreements.html</u> [Accessed 10 April 2014].

EC, 2013a. European Commission. [Online] Available at: <u>http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/docs/2013/april/tradoc_150983.pdf</u> [Accessed 10 April 2014]. EC, 2013b. European Commission. [Online] Available at: <u>http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/docs/2013/may/tradoc_151169.pdf</u> [Accessed 12 August 2014].

Economic Times, 2013. *The Economic Times*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://articles.economictimes.indiatimes.com/2013-11-</u> <u>14/news/44075240_1_openness-iim-calcutta-students-trade-barriers</u> [Accessed 15 April 2014].

EU, 2012. *Eur-Lex*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://eur-</u> <u>lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2012:348:0011:0013:EN:PDF</u> [Accessed 5 May 2014].

Evans, C. & Harrigan, J., 2005. Tight Clothing. How the MFA Affects Asian Apparel. I: T. Ito & A. K. Rose, red. *International Trade in East Asia*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, pp. 367-390.

Frederick, S. & Staritz, C., 2011. Developments in the Global . In: G. Lopez-Acevedo & R. Robertson, eds. *Sewing Success.* s.l.:World Bank Publications, pp. 41-85.

GBG Indonesia, 2013. Global Business Guide Indonesia. [Online]
Available at:
<u>http://www.gbgindonesia.com/en/manufacturing/article/2012/indonesia_s_garment_and_apparel_sector.php</u>
[Accessed 4 April 2014].

Gereffi, G., 1994. The organization of buyer-driven global commodity chains: How U.S. retailers shape overseas production networks. In: *Commodity Chains and Global Capitalism.* Westport: Praeger.

Gereffi, G., 2002. *The international competitiveness of Asian economies in the apparel commodity chain,* Manila: Asian Development Bank.

Gereffi, G. & Fernandez-Stark, K., 2011. *Global Value Chain Analysis: A Primer,* Durham, North Carolina: Center on Globalization, Governance & Competitiveness.

Gereffi, G. & Frederick, S., 2010. *The Global Apparel Value Chain, Trade and the Crisis: Challenges and Opportunities for Developing Countries*, s.l.: The World Bank.

Gereffi, G. & Memedovic, O., 2003. *The Global Apparel Value Chain: What Prospects for Upgrading by Developing Countries,* Vienna: United Nations Industrial Development Organization.

Henn, C., Papageorgiou, C. & Nikola, S., 2013. *Export Quality in Developing Countries,* Washington DC: International Monetary Fund.

HKTDC Research, 2014. *HKTDC Research*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://hong-kong-economy-research.hktdc.com/business-news/article/Hong-Kong-Industry-Profiles/Clothing-Industry-in-Hong-Kong/hkip/en/1/1X000000/1X003DCL.htm</u> [Accessed 30 May 2014].

Hoda, A. & Prakash, S., 2011. *Is the GSP Scheme of the EU benefiting India's exports,* s.l.: ICRIER Policy Series No. 6.

Humphrey, J. & Schmitz, H., 2002. How does insertion in global value chains affect upgrading in industrial clusters?. *Regional Studies, Vol. 36.9*, pp. 1017-1027.

ILO, 2008. International Labour Organization. [Online]

Available at: <u>http://www.ilo.org/asia/whatwedo/projects/WCMS_099340/lang--en/index.htm</u> [Accessed 3 April 2014].

ILO, 2009. International Labour Organization. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.ilo.org/global/standards/information-resources-and-publications/free-trade-agreements-and-labour-rights/WCMS_115531/lang--en/index.htm</u> [Accessed 11 April 2014].

Jin, B., 2004. Apparel industry in East Asian newly industrialized countries: Competitive advantage, challange and implications. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management, Vol. 8, No. 2*, pp. 230-244.

Keane, J. & Willem te Velde, D., 2008. *The role of textile and clothing industries in growth and development strategies*, London: Overseas Development Institute.

Langdana, F. & Murphy, P. T., 2014. The Origins if International Trade Theory. In: *International Trade and Global Macropolicy*. New York: Springer, pp. 7-18.

Li, K. & Song, L., 2011. The Technological Content of China's Exports and the Need for Quality Upgrading. In: J. Golley & L. Song, eds. *Rising China: Global Challanges and Opportunities.* Canberra: ANU E Press, pp. 69-83.

Lopez-Acevedo, G. & Robertson, R., 2012. Sewing Success?. 1 ed. Washington DC: The World Bank.

Lu, S., 2012. China takes all? An empirical study on the impacts of quota elimination on world clothing trade from 2000 to 2009. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management*, Issue 3, pp. 306-326.

Mann, M. & Byun, S.-E., 2011. Accessing opportunities in apparel retail sectors in India: Porter's diamond approach. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management, Vol. 15, No. 2*, pp. 194-210.

Mann, T., 2014. *eHow*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.ehow.com/about_6137218_textile-industry-analysis.html</u> [Accessed 08 August 2014].

Maquila Solidarity Network, 2009. *The apparel industry and the economic crisis How is the crisis affecting apparel production and garment workers,* Toronto: Maquila Solidarity Network.

Mlachila, M. & Yang, Y., 2004. *The End of Textile Quotas: A Case Study of the Impact on Bangladesh,* s.l.: International Monetary Fund, Working Paper 108.

Natsuda, K., Goto, K. & Thoburn, J., 2009. *Challenges to the Cambodian Garment Industry,* Beppu, Oita, Japan: Ritsumeikan Center for Asia Pacific Studies.

Naumann, E., 2006. *The Multifibre Agreement - WTO Agreement on Textiles and Clothing,* Working Paper No. 4: Tralac.

Neufeld, I. N., 2001. *Anti-dumping and Countervailing measures – Use or Abuse? Implications for developing countries,* Geneva: UNCTAD.

Nordås, H. K., 2004. *The Global Textile and Clothing Industry post the Agreement on Textiles and Clothing*, Geneva: World Trade Organization.

Parrish, E. D., Cassill, N. L. & Oxenham, W., 2004. Opportunities in the international textile and apparel marketplace for niche markets. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management, Vol. 8, No. 1*, pp. 41-57.

Pelot, S., 2008. *Textile World Asia*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.textileworldasia.com/Issues/2008/September-October/Country_Profiles/India-Textile_Industry_Profile</u> [Accessed 3 June 2014].

Preuss, S., 2013. *FashionUnited*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.fashionunited.com/executive/management/bangladesh-overready-garments-at-a-price-20133010493341</u> [Accessed 2 June 2014].

Rochan, M., 2014. *International Business Times*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.ibtimes.co.uk/rising-wages-may-erode-chinas-low-cost-manufacturing-advantage-1431142</u> [Accessed 3 April 2014].

Ross, J., 2010. The transition from labour-intensive to capital-intensive growth during economic development. [Online] Available at: <u>http://ablog.typepad.com/keytrendsinglobalisation/2010/08/capital_intensive_growth.html</u> [Accessed 23 May 2014].

Savchenko, Y., 2012. The Rise of Small Asian Economies in the Apparel Industry. In: G. Lopez-Acevedo & R. Robertson, eds. *Sewing Success?*. Washington DC: The World Bank, pp. 163-196.

Staritz, C., 2012. *Apparel exports - Still a path for industrial development? Dynamics in apparel global value chains and implications for low-income countries,* Vienna: Austrian Research Foundation for International Development.

Staritz, C. & Frederick, S., 2012. Studies on Apparel Industry Development, Structure, and Policies. In: G. Lopez-Acevedo & R. Robertson, eds. *Sewing Success?*. Washington DC: The World Bank, pp. 213-497.

Stewart, T. P., 2007. *China's support programs for selected industries: Textiles and apparels,* Washington DC: Trade Lawyers Advisory Group.

Sydor, A., 2011. *Global Value Chains: Impacts and Implications,* s.l.: Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada.

Szczepanski, K., 2014. Asian History. [Online] Available at: <u>http://asianhistory.about.com/od/bangladesh/p/bangladeshprof.htm</u> [Accessed 30 February 2014].

The Economist, 2012. *The Economist*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.economist.com/node/21549956</u> [Accessed 5 August 2014].

The Gobal Economy, 2014. *The Global Economy*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.theglobaleconomy.com/guide/article/84/</u> [Accessed 13 August 2014].
Thoburn, J., 2009. *Vietnam as a role model for development,* Norwich: World Institute for Development Economics Research.

Thomasson, S., 2011. *Textile World Asia*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.textileworldasia.com/Issues/2011/July-August-September/Features/Vietnam-A_Textile_Powerhouse</u> [Accessed 13 August 2014].

Thomasson, S., 2013a. *Textile World Asia*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.textileworldasia.com/Issues/2013/April-May-June/Country_Profiles/Cambodia_On_The_Rise</u> [Accessed 20 May 2014].

Thomasson, S., 2013b. *Textile World Asia*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.textileworldasia.com/Issues/2013/October-November-December/Country_Profiles/Indonesia-Driving_Ahead</u> [Accessed 16 August 2014].

Thomasson, S., 2014. *Textile World Asia*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.textileworldasia.com/Issues/2014/April-May-June/Features/Vietnam_On_The_Move</u> [Accessed 16 August 2014].

Trebilcock, M. J. & Howse, R., 2005. *The Regulation of International Trade.* 3. ed. Abingdon: Routledge.

UAE Embassy, 2014. *Embassy of the United Arab Emirates - New Dehli, India*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.uaeembassy-newdelhi.com/uae-indiarelations_economic&trade.asp</u> [Accessed 25 April 2014].

UN Comtrade, 2014. United Nations Commodity Trade Statistics Database. [Online] Available at: <u>http://comtrade.un.org/db/dqBasicQuery.aspx</u> [Accessed 2014].

UNCTAD, 2014. United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. [Online] Available at: <u>http://unctad.org/en/Pages/DITC/GSP/About-GSP.aspx</u> [Accessed 10 April 2014].

US Embassy, 2014a. *Embassy of the United States - Hanoi, Vietnam*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://vietnam.usembassy.gov/econ12.html</u> [Accessed 8 April 2014].

US Embassy, 2014b. *Embassy of the United States - Hanoi, Vietnam*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://vietnam.usembassy.gov/tpp.html</u> [Accessed 8 April 2014].

USTR, 2014. United States Trade Representative. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.ustr.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/gsp/asset_upload_file5_14711.pdf</u> [Accessed 12 August 2014].

Wage Indicator, 2014. *Wage Indicator*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.wageindicator.org/main/salary/minimum-wage/cambodia</u> [Accessed 1 April 2014]. Weiler, J., Cho, S. & Feichtner, I., 2011. *International and Regional Trade Law: The Law of the World Trade Organization*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.jeanmonnetprogram.org/courses/wto/docs/unitiiirulesoforigin.pdf</u> [Accessed 12 August 2014].

Whalley, J., 2006. *The Post MFA Performance of Developing Asia*, Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research.

White & Case, 2004. *White & Case*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.whitecase.com/elimination-of-quotas-on-textile-and-clothing-imports-12-30-2004/#.U6RWPvl_uzZ</u> [Accessed 20 February 2014].

Worker Rights Consortium, 2013. *Global Wage Trends for Apparel Workers, 2001–2011,* Washington DC: Center for Amarican Progress.

World Bank, 2014a. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/china/overview</u> [Accessed 5 February 2014].

World Bank, 2014b. [Online] Available at: <u>http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/TX.VAL.TECH.CD</u> [Accessed 5 February 2014].

World Bank, 2014c. *The World Bank*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GNP.PCAP.PP.CD</u> [Accessed 1 April 2014].

WTO, 2011. *Merchandise trade, table 11.1.* [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.wto.org/english/res_e/statis_e/its2012_e/its12_merch_trade_product_e.htm</u> [Accessed 11 August 2014].

WTO, 2012a. *United States tariff profile*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://stat.wto.org/TariffProfile/WSDBTariffPFView.aspx?Language=E&Country=US</u> [Accessed 11 August 2014].

WTO, 2012b. *European Union tariff profile*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://stat.wto.org/TariffProfile/WSDBTariffPFView.aspx?Language=E&Country=E27</u> [Accessed 11 August 2014].

WTO, 2013. *World Trade Organization.* [Online] Available at: <u>http://webservices.wto.org/resources/profiles/TP/ZZ/2012/CN_e.pdf</u> [Accessed 5 February 2014].

WTO, 2014a. *World Trade Organization*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.wto.org/english/thewto_e/whatis_e/tif_e/fact5_e.htm</u> [Accessed 19 February 2014].

WTO, 2014b. *World Trade Organization*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/adp_e/AD_Sectoral_MeasuresByExpCty.pdf</u> [Accessed 9 August 2014]. Yang, Y., 1999. *China's Clothing and Textile exports: changing international comparative advantage and it policy implications*, s.l.: Asia Pacific Press.

Yang, Y. & Zhong, C., 1998. China's textile and clothing exports in a changing world economy. *The Developing Economies, Vol. 36, No 1*, pp. 3-23.

Appendix



Appendix 1: Apparel Supply and Value Chain

Source: Frederick and Staritz (2011)



Appendix 2: Examples of upgrading in the apparel value chain

Source: Gereffi and Frederick, 2010

| Program and | | | |
|--------------------------------|--|--|--|
| start date | Benefit | Rules of origin | Beneficiary countries |
| GSP (1971) | 20% MFN duty reduction | Double transformation | GSP-eligible countries not covered by other |
| | | | agreements |
| Euro-Mediterranean | Depends on specific | Double transformation | Mediterranean countries: Algeria; Egypt, Arab |
| Partnership (1995) | bilateral agreements | | Rep.; Israel; Jordan; Lebanon; Morocco; |
| | | | Palestinian Authority; Syria; Tunisia; Turkey |
| GSP-EBA (2001) | Duty- and quota-free | Double transformation ^a | LDCs |
| GSP+ (2005) | Duty-free | Double transformation | Vulnerable developing countries; conditional |
| | | | on implementation of core human rights, |
| | | | good governance, and protection of the |
| | | | environment conventions |
| EPAs (2008–09) | Duty-free | Single transformation | ACP countries that signed an (interim) EPA |
| GSP (1976) | | Does not include textile and apparel | GSP-eligible countries |
| NAFTA (1994) | Duty-free | NAFTA yarn-forward | Canada, Mexico |
| AGOA (2000) | Duty- and quota-free | AGOA/United States yarn-forward | Selected Sub-Saharan African countries |
| | | for most products; assembly only | |
| | | for lesser developed countries | |
| DR-CAFTA (2006) | Duty-free | DR-CAFTA/United States yarn-forward | Central America (except Panama) and |
| | | with some exceptions | Dominican Republic |
| GSP (1971) | Rates vary from duty-free | Triple transformation ^b ; several of the | LDCs |
| | to 50% of MFN rate | product lines have ceilings open for | |
| | | utilization by all preference-receiving | |
| | | countries on an equal footing | |
| GSP (2003) | Duty-free | Allow use of fabrics from Canadian | LDCs |
| | | GSP beneficiary countries | |
| silized System of Preferences; | GSP+ = GSP that offers preferential | market access to vulnerable developing countrie: | s; MFN = most favored nation; EBA = Everything |
| east developed countries; EP/ | A = economic partnership agreemer TA rountry: AGOA = Africa Growth : | nt; ACP = African, Caribbean, and the Pacific; NAF and Opportunity Act: DR-CAFTA = Dominican Rev | TA = North American Free Trade Agreement; public-Central America Free Trade Agreement |
| | Program and start date GSP (1971) Euro-Mediterranean Partnership (1995) GSP-EBA (2001) GSP-EBA (2005) GSP+ (2005) GSP (1976) NAFTA (1994) AGOA (2000) DR-CAFTA (2006) GSP (1971) GSP (2003) GSP (2003) System of Preferences; east developed countries; EP n should be produced in NAF | Program and start dateBenefitGSP (1971)20% MFN duty reductionEuro-Mediterranean Partnership (1995)Depends on specific bilateral agreementsGSP-EBA (2001) GSP+EBA (2008-09)Duty- and quota-free Duty-freeEPAs (2008-09) GSP (1976)Duty-free Duty-freeEPAs (2008-09) GSP (1976)Duty-free Duty-freeGSP (1976) NAFTA (2000)Duty-free Duty-and quota-freeGSP (1971) GSP (1971)Rates vary from duty-free to 50% of MFN rateGSP (2003)Duty-free ats developed countries; EPA = economic partnership agreemental tast developed countries; EPA = economic partnership agreemental asst developed countries; EPA = economic partnership agreemental | Program and start date Benefit Rules of origin GSP (1971) 20% MFN duty reduction Double transformation Euro-Mediterranean Partnership (1995) Depends on specific bilateral agreements Double transformation* GSP-EBA (2001) Duty- and quota-free Duty-free Double transformation* GSP (1976) Duty-free Double transformation GSP (1976) Duty-free Single transformation GSP (1976) Duty-free Double transformation GSP (1976) Duty-free Single transformation MAFTA (1994) Duty-free Does not include textile and apparel NAFTA (1994) Duty-free AGOA/United States yam-forward AGOA (2000) Duty-free DR-CAFTA (2006) DR-CAFTA (2006) Duty-free DR-CAFTA/United States yam-forward GSP (1971) Rates vary from duty-free Triple transformation*; several of the product lines have cellings open for utilization by all preference-receiving countries on an equal footing countries on an equal footing asst developed countries; EPA = economic pathologe appenent; Acres to wuherable developing countrie asst developed countries; E |

Appendix 3: Preferential programs

b. Bangladesh has enjoyed double transformation ROO for knit products—Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding System (HS) 61—since April 2011.

a. The European Union (EU) revised its rules of origin (ROO) from double to single transformation for LDCs, which came into effect on January 1, 2011.

| Product- group | Name and description |
|-------------------|---|
| 640242 | Name: Mens, boys trousers & shorts, of cotton, knit |
| 610342 | Description: Trousers, bib and brace overalls, breeches and shorts : Of cotton |
| 64.00.40 | Name: Mens, boys trousers & shorts, of material nes, knit |
| 610349 | Description: Trousers, bib and brace overalls, breeches and shorts : Of other textile materials |
| 610422 | Name: Womens, girls jackets & blazers, of cotton, knit |
| 610432 | Description: Jackets and blazers : Of cotton |
| 610462 | Name: Womens, girls trousers & shorts, of cotton, knit |
| 610462 | Description: Trousers, bib and brace overalls, breeches and shorts : Of cotton |
| 610469 | Name: Womens, girls trousers & shorts, material nes, knit |
| | Description: Trousers, bib and brace overalls, breeches and shorts : Of other textile materials |
| 610510 | Name: Mens, boys shirts, of cotton, knit |
| | Description: Of cotton |
| 610010 | Name: T-shirts, singlets and other vests, of cotton, knit |
| 610910 | Description: Of cotton |
| 640000 | Name: T-shirts, singlets etc, of material nes, knit |
| 610990 | Description: Of other textile materials |
| 644.04.0 | Name: Pullovers, cardigans etc of wool or hair, knit |
| 611010 | Description: Of wool or fine animal hair |
| 611020 | Name: Pullovers, cardigans etc of cotton, knit |
| 611020 | Description: Of cotton |
| 611020 | Name: Pullovers, cardigans etc of manmade fibres, knit |
| 611030 | Description: Of man-made fibres |
| C11000 | Name: Pullovers, cardigans etc of material nes knit |
| 611090 | Description: Of other textile materials |
| | Name: Mens, boys overcoats of manmade fibres, not knit |
| 620113 | Description : Overcoats, raincoats, car-coats, capes, cloaks and similar articles : Of man-made fibres |
| 620402 | Name: Mens, boys anoraks etc, of manmade fibres, not knit |
| 620193 | Description: Other : Of man-made fibres |
| 600400 | Name: Mens, boys anoraks etc, of material nes, not knit |
| 620199 | Description: Other : Of other textile materials |
| | Name: Womens, girls overcoats etc of wool or hair not knit |
| 620211 | Description: Overcoats, raincoats, car-coats, capes, cloaks and similar articles : Of wool or fine |
| | animal hair |
| 620293 | Name: Womens, girls anoraks etc of manmade fibres, not knit |
| 020233 | Description: Other : Of man-made fibres |
| 620342 | Name: Mens, boys trousers & shorts, of cotton, not knit |
| 020312 | Description: Trousers, bib and brace overalls, breeches and shorts : Of cotton |
| 620442 | Name: Womens, girls dresses, of cotton, not knit |
| 620442 | Description: Dresses : Of cotton |
| 620462 | Name: Womens, girls trousers & shorts, of cotton, not knit |
| | Description: Trousers, bib and brace overalls, breeches and shorts : Of cotton |
| 620520 | Name: Mens, boys shirts, of cotton, not knit |
| | Description: Of cotton |
| 620590 | Name: Mens, boys shirts, of material nes, not knit |
| | Description: Of other textile materials |

Appendix 4: Description of product groups

| 620610 | Name: Womens, girls blouses & shirts, of silk, not knit |
|--------|---|
| | Description: Of silk or silk waste |
| 620630 | Name: Womens, girls blouses & shirts, of cotton, not knit |
| | Description: Of cotton |
| 620640 | Name: Womens, girls blouses, shirts, manmade fibre, not knit |
| | Description: Of man-made fibres |
| 621149 | Name: Womens, girls garments nes, material nes, not knit |
| | Description: Other garments, women's or girls' : Of other textile materials |

Source: UN Comtrade



Norwegian University of Life Sciences Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås, Norway +47 67 23 00 00 www.nmbu.no